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          1                      P-R-O-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-S

          2             THE DEPUTY CLERK:  CIVIL ACTION 98-1232, UNITED

          3   STATES VERSUS MICROSOFT CORPORATION, AND 98-1233, STATE OF

          4   NEW YORK, ET AL. VERSUS MICROSOFT CORPORATION.

          5             PHILLIP MALONE, STEPHEN HOUCK AND DAVID BOIES FOR

          6   THE PLAINTIFFS.

          7             JOHN WARDEN, STEVEN HOLLEY, RICHARD UROWSKY AND

          8   WILLIAM NEUKOM FOR THE DEFENDANT.

          9             THE COURT:  MR. WARDEN.

         10             MR. WARDEN:  OUR NEXT WITNESS IS WILL POOLE, AND

         11   MR. PEPPERMAN WILL EXAMINE HIM ON BEHALF OF MICROSOFT.

         12             THE COURT:  VERY WELL.  THANK YOU.

         13             MR. PEPPERMAN:  GOOD MORNING, YOUR HONOR.

         14             THE COURT:  GOOD MORNING, MR. PEPPERMAN.

         15             MR. PEPPERMAN: I WANT TO APOLOGIZE AT THE OUTSET

         16   FOR MY VOICE.  I HAVEN'T HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS THE

         17   COURT SINCE EARLY NOVEMBER.  AND THE MORNING WHEN IT'S MY

         18   TURN, I WOKE UP WITH A LITTLE BIT OF LARYNGITIS, BUT I'LL

         19   TRY TO KEEP MY VOICE UP.

         20             MICROSOFT CALLS AS ITS NEXT WITNESS MR. WILL

         21   POOLE.

         22           (WILLIAM POOLE, DEFENDANT'S WITNESS, SWORN)

         23             THE WITNESS:  GOOD MORNING.

         24             THE COURT:  GOOD MORNING, MR. POOLE.

         25                        DIRECT EXAMINATION
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          1   BY MR. PEPPERMAN:

          2   Q.  GOOD MORNING, MR. POOLE.

          3   A.  GOOD MORNING.

          4   Q.  MR. POOLE, DO YOU HAVE A COPY BEFORE YOU OF YOUR WRITTEN

          5   DIRECT TESTIMONY AS FILED WITH THE COURT?

          6   A.  YES, I DO.

          7   Q.  DO YOU AFFIRM IT TO BE YOUR ACCURATE AND TRUTHFUL

          8   TESTIMONY?

          9   A.  YES.

         10   Q.  NOW, MR. POOLE, YOUR WRITTEN DIRECT TESTIMONY MAKES

         11   REFERENCE TO A VIDEOTAPE DEMONSTRATION THAT WE HAVE

         12   PREMARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION AS DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT 2167.

         13             MR. PEPPERMAN:  AND, YOUR HONOR, I'M HAPPY TO

         14   INFORM THE COURT THAT THIS VIDEOTAPE IS ONLY

         15   EIGHT-AND-A-HALF MINUTES LONG.

         16             THE COURT:  I AM PLEASED TO HEAR THAT.

         17   BY MR. PEPPERMAN:

         18   Q.  MR. POOLE, ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE DEMONSTRATION SHOWN

         19   ON THE VIDEOTAPE?

         20   A.  YES, I AM.

         21   Q.  AND WERE YOU INVOLVED IN A DECISION AS TO WHICH SUBJECTS

         22   WOULD BE INCLUDED ON THIS VIDEOTAPE?

         23   A.  YES.

         24   Q.  AND ARE YOU PREPARED TODAY TO BE CROSS-EXAMINED ABOUT

         25   THE CONTENTS THAT APPEAR ON THE VIDEOTAPE?
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          1   A.  SURE AM.

          2             MR. PEPPERMAN:  YOUR HONOR, I OFFER DEFENDANT'S

          3   EXHIBIT 2167.

          4             MR. BOIES:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

          5             THE COURT:  DEFENDANT'S 2167 IS ADMITTED.

          6                                   (WHEREUPON, DEFENDANT'S

          7                                   EXHIBIT NUMBER 2167 WAS

          8                                   RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

          9             MR. PEPPERMAN:  YOUR HONOR, BEFORE GOING TO THE

         10   VIDEO, I WOULD LIKE TO OFFER INTO EVIDENCE THE VARIOUS

         11   EXHIBITS THAT ARE REFERRED TO IN MR. POOLE'S DIRECT

         12   TESTIMONY, BUT THAT HAVE NOT BEEN ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE

         13   THUS FAR IN THIS CASE.  THESE EXHIBITS WERE ALL INCLUDED IN

         14   THE VOLUME OF EXHIBITS THAT ACCOMPANIED MR. POOLE'S WRITTEN

         15   DIRECT TESTIMONY.

         16             AS AN INITIAL MATTER, I WANT TO OFFER TWO

         17   DOCUMENTS INTO EVIDENCE, DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT 584, WHICH IS

         18   AN APRIL 9, 1998 E-MAIL FROM MR. POOLE TO MICROSOFT'S 24

         19   PLATINUM ICP PARTNERS.  AND THE OTHER DOCUMENT IS

         20   DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT 935, WHICH IS THE ACTIVE DESKTOP

         21   MARKETING DISTRIBUTION AND PROMOTION AGREEMENT BETWEEN

         22   MICROSOFT AND HOLLYWOOD ONLINE.

         23             MR. BOIES:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         24             THE COURT:  DEFENDANT'S 584 AND 935 ARE ADMITTED.

         25
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          1                                   (WHEREUPON, DEFENDANT'S

          2                                   EXHIBIT NUMBERS 584 AND 935

          3                                   WERE RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.)

          4             MR. PEPPERMAN:  AND YOUR HONOR, WITH REGARD TO THE

          5   REMAINING EXHIBITS THAT HAVE NOT ALREADY BEEN ADMITTED INTO

          6   EVIDENCE, I WOULD LIKE TO ASK MR. POOLE A COUPLE OF

          7   FOUNDATION QUESTIONS, IF I MAY.

          8             THE COURT:  SURE.

          9   BY MR. PEPPERMAN:

         10   Q.  MR. POOLE, WERE DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT 2102 THROUGH 2115,

         11   WHICH ARE DESCRIBED IN YOUR WRITTEN DIRECT TESTIMONY -- WERE

         12   THEY PREPARED AT YOUR INSTRUCTION AND UNDER YOUR

         13   SUPERVISION?

         14   A.  YES, THEY WERE.

         15   Q.  ARE YOU FAMILIAR WITH THE CONTENTS OF THOSE EXHIBITS?

         16   A.  YES, I AM.

         17   Q.  ARE YOU PREPARED TO BE CROSS-EXAMINED TODAY ABOUT THE

         18   CONTENT OF THOSE EXHIBITS?

         19   A.  YES, I AM.

         20   Q.  MR. POOLE, ARE THERE ANY CORRECTIONS THAT YOU WOULD LIKE

         21   TO MAKE IN ANY OF THOSE EXHIBITS?

         22   A.  YES.  WE FOUND A TYPO IN -- I BELIEVE IT'S EXHIBIT 2115.

         23   THIS IS AN EXHIBIT THAT REFERS TO A NUMBER OF SORT OF

         24   TECHNICAL DATA EXHIBITS.  AND THE THIRD-TO-LAST COLUMN

         25   REFERENCES THE MEDIAMETRIX 698 LINE NUMBER.  AND I BELIEVE
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          1   THAT SHOULD BE 498.  THAT'S AT THE TOP HEADING.

          2             AND THAT REFERS BACK TO THE PREVIOUS EXHIBIT WHICH

          3   WAS DATA FROM APRIL OF 1998.

          4             THE COURT:  498 VICE 698?

          5             THE WITNESS:  THAT'S CORRECT.

          6   BY MR. PEPPERMAN:

          7   Q.  AND THAT PREVIOUS EXHIBIT TO WHICH IT REFERS, MR. POOLE,

          8   IS DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT 2114?

          9   A.  YES, THAT'S RIGHT.

         10             MR. PEPPERMAN:  YOUR HONOR, DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT

         11   2114 IS ENTITLED MEDIAMETRIX TOP 5,000 URL REPORT AS OF

         12   APRIL 1998.  AND AS MR. POOLE POINTED OUT, THE REFERENCE IN

         13   THAT THIRD COLUMN FROM THE RIGHT SHOULD BE "498" TO REFER

         14   BACK TO THE PRECEDING EXHIBIT.

         15             AND WITH THAT FOUNDATION, YOUR HONOR, I OFFER

         16   DEFENDANT'S EXHIBITS 2102 THROUGH 2115.

         17             MR. BOIES:  YOUR HONOR, WE HAVE NO OBJECTION TO

         18   THE EXHIBITS THAT ARE BEING OFFERED, EXCEPT FOR 2104, 2114

         19   AND 2115, TO WHICH WE HAVE A FOUNDATION OBJECTION, WHICH WE

         20   DON'T THINK THIS WITNESS CAN CURE BASED ON WHAT IS IN HIS

         21   DIRECT TESTIMONY.

         22             THE COURT MAY WISH TO ADMIT THEM SUBJECT TO A

         23   MOTION TO STRIKE, BUT I DON'T THINK WITH RESPECT TO THE

         24   ABSENCE OF FOUNDATION, GIVEN WHAT THESE EXHIBITS ARE, THIS

         25   WITNESS CAN CURE THAT.
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          1             THE COURT:  WHAT'S THE OBJECTION ON FOUNDATION

          2   GROUNDS?

          3             MR. BOIES:  WELL, YOUR HONOR, 2104 IS A LIST OF

          4   PRECONFIGURED WEB SITES IN NAVIGATOR 4.5 AND OPERATOR 3.0.

          5   AND BASED ON WHAT IS IN THE WITNESS' DIRECT TESTIMONY, I DO

          6   NOT BELIEVE THAT HE IS IN A POSITION TO PROVIDE A FOUNDATION

          7   FOR THIS, ALTHOUGH IT IS CONCEIVABLE HE MAY BE IN TERMS OF

          8   USING IT WITH HIS DIRECT.

          9             WITH RESPECT TO 2114 AND 2115, THOSE ARE

         10   MEDIAMETRIX REPORTS OR THEY ARE COMPILATIONS FROM

         11   MEDIAMETRIX REPORTS.  AND THESE ARE MATERIALS THAT WERE NOT

         12   PRODUCED TO US DURING THE COURSE OF DISCOVERY.  SO IT'S NOT

         13   MERELY A COMPILATION OF MATERIALS THAT WERE PREPARED AND

         14   PRODUCED DURING DISCOVERY.

         15             AND, AGAIN, I DON'T BELIEVE FROM HIS DIRECT

         16   TESTIMONY THAT HE IS THE PERSON WHO HAS DEALT WITH

         17   MEDIAMETRIX OR HAS ANY BASIS FOR TESTIFYING ABOUT THIS

         18   MATERIAL.

         19             THE COURT:  DO YOU WANT TO SEE WHAT YOU CAN DO IN

         20   THE WAY OF PROVIDING A FOUNDATION?

         21             MR. PEPPERMAN:  YOUR HONOR, JUST AT THE OUTSET,

         22   MR. POOLE HAS ALREADY TESTIFIED THAT ALL OF THESE EXHIBITS

         23   WERE PREPARED UNDER HIS DIRECTION -- AT HIS DIRECTION AND

         24   UNDER HIS SUPERVISION.  IT IS TRUE THAT -- I DON'T WANT TO

         25   TESTIFY AS TO THE PREPARATION OF THE EXHIBITS, BUT SOMEONE
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          1   ELSE AT MICROSOFT ACTUALLY CONTACTED MEDIAMETRIX AT

          2   MR. POOLE'S DIRECTION.

          3             AND BASED ON THE LIMITATION OF THE NUMBER OF

          4   WITNESSES, IT'S VERY DIFFICULT FOR MICROSOFT TO PRODUCE AS A

          5   WITNESS THE PERSON WHO HAD THAT ACTUAL CONTACT.

          6             IF YOUR HONOR WOULD LIKE, I CAN ASK MR. POOLE SOME

          7   FURTHER FOUNDATION QUESTIONS ABOUT THESE SPECIFIC EXHIBITS,

          8   ALTHOUGH HE IS PREPARED TO BE CROSS-EXAMINED, IF MR. BOIES

          9   LIKES, ON THE DETAILS OF HOW THOSE EXHIBITS WERE PREPARED.

         10             THE COURT:  WELL, I AM GOING TO OVERRULE THE

         11   OBJECTION.  I AM GOING TO ADMIT DEFENDANT'S EXHIBITS 2102

         12   THROUGH 2115, INCLUDING 2104 AND 2114, AS TO WHICH THE

         13   OBJECTION IS MADE, AND I WILL DETERMINE WHAT, IF ANY WEIGHT,

         14   THEY ARE TO BE GIVEN.

         15                                   (WHEREUPON, DEFENDANT'S

         16                                   EXHIBIT NUMBERS 2102 THROUGH

         17                                   2115 WERE RECEIVED IN

         18                                   EVIDENCE.)

         19             MR. PEPPERMAN: THANK YOU, YOUR HONOR.

         20             AT THIS TIME, I WOULD LIKE TO PLAY FOR THE COURT

         21   THE SHORT VIDEOTAPE DEMONSTRATION THAT ACCOMPANIES

         22   MR. POOLE'S TESTIMONY, WHICH IS DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT 2167.

         23             BEFORE I DO, YOUR HONOR, JUST TO GIVE YOU A BRIEF

         24   SUMMARY AS TO WHAT APPEARS ON THE VIDEOTAPE, THE FIRST PART

         25   OF THE VIDEOTAPE IS A DEMONSTRATION OF THE OPERATION OF THE
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          1   CHANNEL BAR IN WINDOWS 98 AND OF THE NETSCAPE CHANNELS,

          2   WHICH ARE CALLED NETSCAPE NETCASTER.

          3             AND THE VIDEOTAPE ALSO BRIEFLY DEMONSTRATES THE

          4   ABILITY OF NETSCAPE NAVIGATOR TO VIEW WEB CHANNELS THAT HAVE

          5   BEEN DESIGNED FOR THE WINDOWS 98 CHANNEL BAR.  AND WITH THAT

          6   INTRODUCTION, I ASK THAT THE VIDEOTAPE BE PLAYED.

          7             THE COURT:  VERY WELL.

          8             (VIDEOTAPE PLAYED AS FOLLOWS:)

          9             MR. MEHDI:  HELLO.  MY NAME IS YUSUF MEHDI.  I AM

         10   A DIRECTOR OF MARKETING IN THE PERSONAL AND BUSINESS SYSTEMS

         11   DIVISION OF THE PLATFORMS AND APPLICATIONS GROUP AT

         12   MICROSOFT.  IN THIS DEMONSTRATION, I WILL SHOW YOU THE

         13   OPERATION OF THE CHANNEL BAR IN WINDOWS 98.

         14             OEM'S AND USERS HAVE THE OPTION OF TURNING THE

         15   CHANNEL BAR ON OR OFF, AND OEM'S AND USERS HAVE A GREAT DEAL

         16   OF FLEXIBILITY TO CONFIGURE AND MODIFY THE CHANNEL BAR, AS

         17   YOU WILL SEE.

         18             I WILL ALSO SHOW YOU THE OPERATION OF THE NETSCAPE

         19   CHANNELS AND THE ABILITY OF NETSCAPE TO VIEW WEB CHANNELS

         20   DESIGNED FOR THE MICROSOFT CHANNEL BAR.

         21             LET'S BEGIN WITH THE WINDOWS 98 DESKTOP.  THIS IS

         22   THE CHANNEL BAR.  IT IS A GROUP OF ICONS THAT LINK YOU TO

         23   SPECIAL WEB SITES ON THE INTERNET, OR ON A COMPUTER NETWORK,

         24   WHERE THE USER CAN SUBSCRIBE TO CHANNELS WHICH DELIVER

         25   INFORMATION DIRECTLY TO THE USER'S DESKTOP.

                                                                              12

          1             AT THE TOP LEVEL, WE HAVE A CHANNEL GUIDE.  THIS

          2   IS A GUIDE FOR USERS WHO WANT TO FIND NEW CHANNELS.

          3   INCLUDED WITH WINDOWS 98 ARE A NUMBER OF CHANNELS.  HERE

          4   BELOW THE CHANNEL GUIDE IS WHERE COMPUTER MANUFACTURERS CAN

          5   ADD THEIR OWN CHANNEL, AND WITHIN THAT CHANNEL, CAN PROMOTE

          6   ANY PRODUCTS THEY USE.

          7             BELOW THE OEM ARE A NUMBER OF CHANNEL

          8   CATEGORIES -- FOR EXAMPLE, NEWS AND TECHNOLOGY, SPORTS,

          9   BUSINESS, ENTERTAINMENT, LIFESTYLE AND TRAVEL, AS WELL AS

         10   MANY OTHER ONES THAT I'M GOING TO COME BACK AND TALK ABOUT

         11   LATER, THE MICROSOFT NETWORK, MSNBC, AND DISNEY, FOR

         12   EXAMPLE.

         13             UNDER EACH OF THESE CHANNELS AT THE TOP, THERE ARE

         14   SUBCHANNELS.  FOR EXAMPLE, IF WE WERE TO COME AND LOOK AT

         15   THE SPORTS CATEGORY, WHERE WE HAVE GROUPED SUBCHANNELS, WE

         16   HAVE MSNBC SPORTS, CNN-SI, ESPN SPORTSZONE AND CBS

         17   SPORTSLINE.

         18             IF WE COME AND TAKE A LOOK AT THE NEWS AND

         19   TECHNOLOGY CHANNEL, FOR EXAMPLE, YOU WILL ALSO SEE A NUMBER

         20   OF SUBCHANNELS -- FOR EXAMPLE, ZDNET, CNET, WIRED, CNN,

         21   TIME, THE NEW YORK TIMES, SNAP ONLINE, AND CMP NET.  SO AS

         22   YOU CAN SEE, EACH OF THOSE CHANNELS INCLUDE MANY SUBCHANNELS

         23   AS WELL.

         24             FINALLY, THERE IS, FOR EXAMPLE, AN ENTERTAINMENT

         25   GUIDE AND A BUSINESS GUIDE, AS WE TALKED ABOUT, THAT HAVE
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          1   OTHER SUBCHANNELS.  ALL OF THESE CHANNELS AND THE FEATURED

          2   CHANNELS AND THE SUBCHANNELS WITHIN THOSE CATEGORIES HAVE

          3   INFORMATION AVAILABLE FOR USERS TO SUBSCRIBE TO AND HAVE

          4   ELECTRONICALLY DELIVERED TO THE USER'S COMPUTER.

          5             THE CHANNEL BAR INCLUDES CHANNELS FOR AMERICA

          6   ONLINE AND THE MICROSOFT NETWORK.  THE CHANNELS MAKE IT

          7   EASIER FOR USERS TO FIND INTERESTING INFORMATION ON THE WEB

          8   WHEN THEY FIRST GET THEIR WINDOWS 98 COMPUTER.

          9             AS AN EXAMPLE, LET'S TAKE A LOOK AT THE DISNEY

         10   CHANNEL.  WHEN I CLICK ON THAT CHANNEL, I GET A VERY SHORT

         11   PROMOTION FROM DISNEY, AND I GET A REQUEST TO ADD THIS TO MY

         12   CHANNEL GUIDE.  WHEN I CLICK "ADD ACTIVE CHANNEL," I CHOOSE

         13   NETWORK, SINCE THAT'S HOW I'M CONNECTED.  I GO AHEAD AND

         14   TELL IT TO UPDATE AND ALLOW FOR OFFLINE VIEWING.  AND THIS

         15   HAS NOW BEEN SET UP TO DOWNLOAD INFORMATION PERIODICALLY

         16   DIRECTLY TO MY COMPUTER.

         17             THE TECHNOLOGY THAT ACCOMPLISHES THIS IS OFTEN

         18   CALLED "PUSH" TECHNOLOGY.  THIS SITE WILL SEND IN THE

         19   INFORMATION AUTOMATICALLY ON A REGULAR BASIS SO THAT I DON'T

         20   HAVE TO GO OUT AND FIND THAT INFORMATION.  INSTEAD, IT'S

         21   DELIVERED TO ME.

         22             HERE IS THE DISNEY CHANNEL.  THEY HAVE SENT ME

         23   THIS INFORMATION JUST LIKE YOU'D FIND ON A WEB SITE.  THE

         24   WINDOWS 98 CHANNEL BAR IS DESIGNED SO THAT I CAN CHOOSE

         25   WHICH CHANNELS I WANT TO SUBSCRIBE TO.  YOU ONLY GET WHAT
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          1   YOU CHOOSE TO RECEIVE.

          2             IN ADDITION TO BEING ABLE TO ADD CHANNELS, I CAN

          3   ALSO DELETE CHANNELS.  SO, FOR EXAMPLE, I CAN DELETE

          4   POINTCAST BY SIMPLY RIGHT-CLICKING AND CHOOSING "DELETE," OR

          5   I CAN DRAG AND DROP IT TO THE RECYCLE BIN, AND IT WILL

          6   PROMPT ME FOR DELETING.  AS YOU CAN SEE, I HAVE NOW DELETED

          7   THAT CHANNEL FROM THE CHANNEL BAR.  AND I AM FULLY ABLE TO

          8   DELETE ANY OF THE CHANNELS THAT I CHOOSE.

          9             IN ADDITION, BOTH THE USER AND THE P.C.

         10   MANUFACTURER HAVE THE OPTION OF TURNING OFF THE CHANNEL BAR.

         11   FOR THE USER, IT'S SIMPLY A CLICK ON THE "X" LIKE SO, AND

         12   THE CHANNEL BAR IS NOW REMOVED FROM THE DESKTOP.  P.C.

         13   MANUFACTURERS WERE GIVEN THAT FLEXIBILITY WITH WINDOWS 98.

         14   AND IN FACT, MANY HAVE TAKEN ADVANTAGE OF IT.  MANY DON'T

         15   EVEN INSTALL THE CHANNEL BAR ON THEIR COMPUTERS.  SO AS YOU

         16   CAN SEE, THERE IS A GREAT DEGREE OF FLEXIBILITY AFFORDED

         17   WITH THE CHANNELS.

         18             NOW, LET'S LOOK AT THE NETSCAPE NETCASTER CHANNEL

         19   FEATURE SO THAT YOU CAN, BY COMPARISON, SEE THE OPERATION OF

         20   THE TWO.  THIS IS NETSCAPE'S NETCASTER CHANNEL FEATURE.

         21   NETCASTER HAS A LONG LIST OF CHANNELS.  MANY OF THE CHANNELS

         22   ARE THE SAME AS THOSE IN THE WINDOWS 98 CHANNEL BAR.  SO,

         23   FOR EXAMPLE, DISNEY IS INCLUDED, CBS SPORTSLINE, AND AOL

         24   PREVIEW CHANNEL.  THESE ARE THE SAME CHANNELS THAT ARE IN

         25   THE CHANNEL BAR UNDER WINDOWS 98.
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          1             UNLIKE THE CHANNEL BAR IN WINDOWS 98, THE NETSCAPE

          2   CHANNELS ARE NOT EASILY DELETABLE BY THE USER.  SO I CANNOT,

          3   FOR EXAMPLE, RIGHT-CLICK ON THEM.  I AM ABLE TO ADD A

          4   CHANNEL, BUT I AM NOT ABLE TO DELETE THE CHANNELS FROM THIS

          5   PARTICULAR LOCATION.

          6             THE WINDOWS 98 CHANNEL BAR OFFERS A GREATER DEGREE

          7   OF FLEXIBILITY TO USERS.  I WILL NOW EXIT THE NETCASTER

          8   CHANNEL FEATURE.  USERS CAN ALSO USE THE NETSCAPE NAVIGATOR

          9   BROWSER ITSELF TO VIEW CHANNELS, EVEN CHANNELS THAT HAVE

         10   BEEN OPTIMIZED FOR WINDOWS 98.

         11             SO, FOR EXAMPLE, I CAN USE THE NAVIGATOR BROWSER

         12   TO LOOK AT THE CHANNEL THAT WAS UNDER THE DISNEY CHANNEL

         13   UNDER WINDOWS 98.  NETSCAPE CAN, IN FACT, VIEW THAT CHANNEL

         14   AS WELL.  THE CONTENT, FOR ALL INTENTS AND PURPOSES, IS

         15   EASILY VIEWABLE.

         16             THERE IS ONE OTHER SERVICE, WHICH NETSCAPE

         17   PROMOTES TO USERS, WHICH FURTHER DEMONSTRATES NETSCAPE'S

         18   ABILITY TO OFFER WEB CONSENT TO ITS CUSTOMERS.  THAT IS WITH

         19   THE SERVICE CALLED THE NETSCAPE IN-BOX DIRECT SERVICE THAT

         20   THEY PROMOTE ON THEIR NETSCAPE NETCENTER WEB SITE.  I'LL

         21   CLICK ON "IN-BOX DIRECT."

         22             FOR NEW USERS, NETSCAPE OFFERS TO DELIVER

         23   INFORMATION DIRECTLY TO THEIR CUSTOMER'S E-MAIL BOX.  HERE,

         24   NETSCAPE DESCRIBES HOW TO USE THE FEATURE.  THERE IS A WHOLE

         25   FEATURE LIST OF INFORMATION A USER CAN SUBSCRIBE TO.  I'M
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          1   JUST GOING TO GIVE YOU A FEEL FOR SOME OF IT:  ABC NEWS,

          2   CNN, EXCITE, FOX, U.S.A. TODAY, ALSO CBS SPORTSLINE,

          3   GOLFWEB, IVILLAGE AND DRIVE ALIVE.  FOR ENTERTAINMENT, THERE

          4   IS SIMILARLY A GREAT DEGREE OF CONTENT AVAILABLE, AND SO

          5   FORTH, FOR MANY OTHER CATEGORIES OF INFORMATION.

          6             SO NETSCAPE CREATES A GREAT VOLUME OF THIRD-PARTY

          7   INFORMATION, BOTH WITH ITS NETCASTER CHANNEL FEATURE AND

          8   THROUGH IN-BOX DIRECT.  BOTH WINDOWS 98 AND NETSCAPE OFFER

          9   THESE FEATURES AS A WAY TO HELP USERS GET INTERESTING

         10   INFORMATION TO THEIR DESKTOP.

         11             IN SUMMARY, I HAVE DEMONSTRATED THE WINDOWS 98

         12   CHANNEL BAR, THE INTERESTING INFORMATION IT MAKES AVAILABLE

         13   TO USERS, AND HOW CUSTOMERS AND COMPUTER MANUFACTURES CAN

         14   MODIFY THE CHANNEL BAR OR TURN IT ON AND OFF.  I HAVE ALSO

         15   DEMONSTRATED THE NETSCAPE CHANNELS AND THE ABILITY OF

         16   NETSCAPE NAVIGATOR TO VIEW INFORMATION ON THE WEB CREATED

         17   FOR THE MICROSOFT CHANNELS.

         18             (END OF PLAYING OF VIDEOTAPE.)

         19             MR. PEPPERMAN:  YOUR HONOR, WE TENDER THE WITNESS

         20   FOR CROSS-EXAMINATION.

         21             THE COURT:  THANK YOU, MR. PEPPERMAN.

         22             MR. BOIES:  GOOD MORNING, YOUR HONOR.

         23             THE COURT:  MR. BOIES.

         24                        CROSS-EXAMINATION

         25   BY MR. BOIES:

                                                                              17

          1   Q.  GOOD MORNING, MR. POOLE.

          2   A.  GOOD MORNING.

          3   Q.  WE HAVE NOT MET, BUT MY NAME IS DAVID BOIES, AND I

          4   REPRESENT THE UNITED STATES.

          5             YOU JOINED MICROSOFT IN JUNE OF 1996, CORRECT?

          6   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

          7   Q.  AND, AT THAT TIME, YOU REPORTED TO MR. BRAD CHASE?

          8   A.  YES.

          9   Q.  AND YOU CONTINUE TO REPORT TO MR. BRAD CHASE?

         10   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

         11   Q.  IN JUNE OF 1996 WHEN YOU JOINED MICROSOFT, WERE YOU

         12   AWARE THAT ONE OF THE PRIMARY OBJECTIVES THAT MICROSOFT HAD

         13   AND THAT MR. CHASE HAD WAS TO GAIN BROWSER SHARE IN

         14   COMPETITION WITH NETSCAPE?

         15   A.  GENERALLY, YES.  IT WAS WELL UNDERSTOOD THROUGHOUT THE

         16   INDUSTRY THAT MICROSOFT WAS INTERESTED IN MAKING ITS

         17   TECHNOLOGIES BETTER TO COMPETE WITH NETSCAPE AND TO INCREASE

         18   MORE USAGE OF THOSE TECHNOLOGIES.

         19   Q.  AND JUST TO BE CLEAR, WHEN YOU TALK ABOUT BROWSER SHARE

         20   OR BROWSER MARKET SHARE, YOU'RE TALKING ABOUT BROWSER USAGE

         21   SHARE, CORRECT?

         22   A.  THAT IS THE TYPICAL WAY WE USE IT, THAT'S CORRECT.

         23   WE'RE SORT OF LOOSE WITH THE WORDS, BUT THAT'S WHAT WE DO.

         24   Q.  BUT THAT'S WHAT YOU MEAN WITHIN MICROSOFT?

         25   A.  ABOUT HOW MANY PEOPLE USE THIS TECHNOLOGY, THAT'S RIGHT.
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          1   Q.  BECAUSE WHAT YOU'RE LOOKING FOR IS TO INCREASE THE

          2   NUMBER OF PEOPLE USING THE BROWSER, CORRECT, SIR?

          3   A.  SURE, BECAUSE IF YOU HAVE THE TECHNOLOGY -- WHICH MANY

          4   PEOPLE DO -- AND YOU DON'T USE IT, IT'S NOT USEFUL TO THE

          5   USER.

          6   Q.  WELL, IT WAS A LITTLE BIT MORE THAN THAT WITH RESPECT TO

          7   THE BROWSER, WAS IT NOT, SIR?  MICROSOFT VIEWED THE NETSCAPE

          8   BROWSER AS A SERIOUS THREAT OR AT LEAST A SERIOUS POTENTIAL

          9   PLATFORM THREAT, DID IT NOT?

         10   A.  CERTAINLY WE VIEWED THE BROWSER AS A PLATFORM THREAT.  I

         11   BELIEVE THAT'S CORRECT, YES.

         12   Q.  SO ONE OF THE REASONS THAT YOU WERE TRYING TO GAIN

         13   BROWSER-USAGE SHARE WAS IN ORDER TO COMBAT WHAT YOU VIEWED

         14   AS THIS PLATFORM THREAT, CORRECT?

         15   A.  YES.

         16   Q.  OKAY.  NOW, LET'S TALK ABOUT THE CHANNEL BAR THAT WAS UP

         17   ON THE SCREEN.  THE CHANNEL BAR WAS INTRODUCED NOT IN

         18   WINDOWS 98, BUT IN WINDOWS 95, CORRECT?

         19   A.  IT WAS IN THE INTERNET EXPLORER VERSION 4 TECHNOLOGY,

         20   WHICH WAS FIRST SHIPPED WITH WINDOWS 95, THAT'S CORRECT.

         21   Q.  AND WITH RESPECT TO THE VERSION THAT SHIPPED FOR

         22   WINDOWS 95, WERE THE OEM'S PERMITTED TO TURN THE CHANNEL BAR

         23   OFF?

         24   A.  IN SOME CIRCUMSTANCES, YES.

         25   Q.  IN WHICH CIRCUMSTANCES?
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          1   A.  I'M NOT INTIMATELY FAMILIAR WITH THE OEM AGREEMENTS, BUT

          2   I BELIEVE THERE WERE OEM'S, WHO SHIPPED TO CORPORATE

          3   CUSTOMERS, WHO MADE VERY SPECIAL CONFIGURATIONS OF THE OEM

          4   PRODUCT FOR THOSE CORPORATE CUSTOMERS.  AND THEY HAD THE

          5   ABILITY TO DO A VARIETY OF DIFFERENT CUSTOMIZATIONS, WHICH

          6   WOULD INCLUDE TURNING OFF THE CHANNEL BAR DISPLAY BY

          7   DEFAULT.

          8   Q.  WHAT ABOUT FOR THE MACHINES THAT OEM'S SHIPPED TO

          9   CONSUMER CUSTOMERS OR SHIPPED TO SMALL BUSINESSES?  DID

         10   OEM'S HAVE THE ABILITY TO TURN OFF THE CHANNEL BAR IN

         11   WINDOWS 95?

         12   A.  NO.  I DON'T BELIEVE SO.

         13   Q.  WITH RESPECT TO WINDOWS 98, CAN THE OEM'S -- YOU SHOWED

         14   ON THE SCREEN HOW A USER CAN DELETE A PARTICULAR CHANNEL ON

         15   THE CHANNEL BAR.  DO YOU RECALL THAT?

         16   A.  YES.

         17   Q.  ARE THE OEM'S PERMITTED TO DO THAT?

         18   A.  NO.

         19   Q.  THE OEM'S EITHER HAVE TO --

         20             THE COURT:  I AM SORRY.  ARE OEM'S PERMITTED TO DO

         21   THAT?

         22             MR. BOIES:  YES.

         23   BY MR. BOIES:

         24   Q.  IN OTHER WORDS, WHAT THE VIDEO SHOWED WAS TAKING OFF ONE

         25   OF THE CHANNELS, RIGHT?
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          1   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.  IT SHOWED AN END USER USING THE

          2   CAPABILITIES OF THE CHANNEL BAR TO REMOVE A CHANNEL.  THEY

          3   CAN ALSO ADD A CHANNEL AND REARRANGE CHANNELS.  THOSE ARE

          4   ALL END-USER FEATURES, THAT'S RIGHT.

          5   Q.  AND OEM'S, HOWEVER, ARE NOT PERMITTED BY MICROSOFT TO

          6   REMOVE A PARTICULAR CHANNEL, CORRECT, SIR?

          7   A.  YES.  I BELIEVE THAT'S -- THE GENERAL SITUATION IS THAT

          8   OEM'S ARE NOT PERMITTED TO MODIFY THE PRODUCT THAT THEY SHIP

          9   TO THE CUSTOMERS RELATIVE TO -- THEY CAN ADD TO IT, BUT THEY

         10   CAN'T TAKE STUFF AWAY.

         11   Q.  WELL, THEY CAN TAKE AWAY THE WHOLE CHANNEL BAR, CAN'T

         12   THEY, SIR?  DIDN'T YOU JUST SAY THAT?

         13   A.  THEY DON'T ACTUALLY TAKE IT AWAY.  THEY JUST CHANGE THE

         14   DEFAULT DISPLAY.  SO THE FEATURE IS STILL THERE.  THE

         15   CHANNELS ARE ALL THERE.  THE QUESTION IS JUST WHEN THE USER

         16   FIRST TURNS ON THEIR SYSTEM, IS IT VISIBLE?  AND THAT'S WHAT

         17   WE CHANGED FOR WINDOWS 98 IN ORDER TO PREPARE THE OEM'S FOR

         18   THE TRANSITION TO THE NEXT VERSION OF THE BROWSER.

         19   Q.  LET ME TRY TO TAKE TWO PARTS OF THAT QUESTION

         20   SEPARATELY.  FIRST, YOU SAY THE OEM IS PERMITTED TO TURN OFF

         21   THE CHANNEL BAR; IS THAT WHAT YOU SAID?  NOT TO HAVE IT

         22   BECOME VISIBLE?

         23   A.  WELL, LET ME TRY TO BE PRECISE.  I'M SORRY IF IT'S NOT

         24   CLEAR.  THEY CAN CHANGE WHETHER THE CHANNEL BAR IS ON THE

         25   DESKTOP WHEN IT FIRST STARTS UP.  THEY CAN SAY IT'S THERE OR
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          1   IT'S NOT THERE.  THE CHANNEL BAR STILL EXISTS.  IT'S JUST A

          2   QUESTION OF -- AND THERE ARE MANY OPTIONS THAT ARE NOT

          3   VISIBLE TO THE USER WHEN THEY FIRST TURN ON THE COMPUTER.

          4   AND THE QUESTION IS, DOES THE OEM WANT THAT CHANNEL BAR TO

          5   BE THERE OR NOT?  AND SOME DID AND SOME DIDN'T.

          6   Q.  NOW, THE VIDEO SAID TWO THINGS.  THE VIDEO SAID THE

          7   OEM'S CAN TURN THE CHANNEL BAR ON AND OFF, CORRECT?

          8   A.  I BELIEVE -- I DON'T KNOW IF THAT'S THE PRECISE WORDS,

          9   BUT IF THAT'S WHAT THEY WERE, THAT SOUNDS RIGHT TO ME.

         10   Q.  OKAY.  THIS IS THE VIDEO THAT YOU'RE VOUCHING FOR.

         11   A.  I UNDERSTAND.

         12   Q.  AND IS THAT AN ACCURATE WAY TO DESCRIBE WHAT THE OEM'S

         13   CAN DO -- TURN THE CHANNEL BAR ON AND OFF?

         14   A.  THAT IS A WAY TO DESCRIBE IT, YES.

         15   Q.  OKAY.  NOW, THE VIDEO ALSO SAID THAT OEM'S CAN CHOOSE

         16   NOT TO INSTALL THE CHANNEL BAR; DO YOU RECALL THAT?

         17   A.  I DON'T RECALL THE SPECIFIC WORD "INSTALL," BUT I

         18   BELIEVE IT FALLS INTO THE GENERAL CATEGORY OF THE OEM'S GET

         19   TO CHOOSE HOW THE USER SEES THE SYSTEM WHEN IT FIRST STARTS

         20   UP.

         21   Q.  WHEN THE VIDEO SAYS -- WHEN YOUR VIDEO, THE VIDEO YOU'RE

         22   VOUCHING FOR --

         23   A.  YES.

         24   Q.  -- SAYS THAT THE OEM'S CAN CHOOSE NOT TO INSTALL THE

         25   CHANNEL BAR --
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          1   A.  RIGHT.

          2   Q.  -- IS THAT ANYTHING DIFFERENT FROM SIMPLY BEING ABLE TO

          3   TURN IT OFF SO IT'S NOT VISIBLE?

          4   A.  NO, IT'S NOT.  IT'S JUST "TURN ON," "TURN OFF," "ENABLE

          5   BY DEFAULT" -- A VARIETY OF DIFFERENT WORDS RELATIVE TO THE

          6   SAME CONCEPT, WHICH IS JUST A SINGLE CONCEPT.

          7   Q.  AND THEY'RE NOT REMOVING ANY CODE.  THEY'RE JUST TURNING

          8   IT OFF, RIGHT?

          9   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.  THEY ARE JUST DISABLING IT BY

         10   DEFAULT -- TURNING IT OFF.

         11   Q.  AND THEN JUST TO CLARIFY WITH RESPECT TO THE PARTICULAR

         12   CHANNELS, THE OEM'S ARE NOT PERMITTED TO TURN OFF PARTICULAR

         13   CHANNELS, CORRECT?

         14   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.  THEY CAN ADD CHANNELS.  THEY CANNOT

         15   JUST SELECTIVELY DELETE CHANNELS.

         16   Q.  OKAY.  NOW, WHEN MICROSOFT CAME UP WITH THE CHANNEL BAR,

         17   MICROSOFT ORIGINALLY PLANNED TO TRY TO DERIVE REVENUE FROM

         18   THE CHANNEL BAR, CORRECT?

         19   A.  I WOULDN'T SAY THAT WE PLANNED TO TRY TO DERIVE REVENUE.

         20   WE CONSIDERED THAT.  IT WAS PART OF MY ORIGINAL BUSINESS

         21   MODEL CONSIDERATION, BUT WE OPTED NOT TO.

         22   Q.  WELL, WHEN YOU SAY YOU CONSIDERED IT, GETTING REVENUE

         23   FROM THE CHANNEL BAR WAS PART OF, IN YOUR WORDS, THE

         24   ORIGINAL BUSINESS MODEL THAT YOU HAD FOR THE CHANNEL BAR,

         25   CORRECT?
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          1   A.  IT WAS PART OF THE BUSINESS MODEL THAT I INITIALLY

          2   DEVELOPED ALONG WITH MY COLLEAGUES, AND HOW WE WERE

          3   CONSIDERING HOW WE WOULD DO BUSINESS IN AN AREA THAT WE HAD

          4   NOT REALLY DONE BUSINESS BEFORE.  REVENUE WAS ONE OF THE

          5   CONSIDERATIONS.  THERE WERE MANY.  AND WE, AS I SAID,

          6   ELECTED NOT TO FOR A VARIETY OF REASONS.

          7   Q.  YES.  AND I AM GOING TO COME TO WHAT YOU ELECTED TO DO.

          8   A.  I FIGURED YOU WOULD.

          9   Q.  BUT, FIRST, BEFORE YOU DECIDED NOT TO SEEK REVENUE FROM

         10   THE CHANNEL BAR, YOU MADE SOME ESTIMATES AS TO WHAT A

         11   REALISTIC AMOUNT OF REVENUE THAT YOU COULD EXPECT TO GET

         12   FROM THE CHANNEL BAR WOULD BE, CORRECT?

         13   A.  IN HINDSIGHT, THEY WERE ESTIMATES.  THEY WERE NOT

         14   REALISTIC.

         15   Q.  YOU MEANT THEM TO BE REALISTIC AT THE TIME, CORRECT,

         16   SIR?

         17   A.  TO THE BEST OF OUR ABILITIES, THAT'S CORRECT.

         18   Q.  SO TO THE BEST OF YOUR ABILITIES AT THE TIME, YOU MADE

         19   ESTIMATES AS TO HOW MUCH MONEY YOU THOUGHT YOU COULD GET

         20   FROM THE CHANNEL BAR?

         21   A.  YES, WE DID.

         22   Q.  AND WHAT DID YOU ESTIMATE THAT YOU COULD GET FROM THE

         23   CHANNEL BAR?

         24   A.  I DON'T RECALL THE SPECIFIC NUMBER.  IT VARIED FROM $10

         25   MILLION PER TOP-LEVEL CHANNEL.  WE HAD AN AGGREGATE NUMBER
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          1   OF SOMETHING MUCH GREATER THAN THAT.

          2             WE DID A COUPLE OF DIFFERENT VERSIONS OF IT, I'M

          3   SURE.  IT DEPENDS ON HOW YOU LOOKED AT THE VALUATION, BUT IT

          4   WAS IN THAT RANGE.

          5   Q.  AND THAT IS A REVENUE NUMBER PER YEAR, IS THAT CORRECT,

          6   SIR?

          7   A.  I DON'T KNOW IF WE DID IT EXACTLY PER YEAR, BUT

          8   APPROXIMATELY, YES.

          9   Q.  AND WHEN YOU SAY $10 MILLION APPROXIMATELY PER YEAR FOR

         10   A TOP-LEVEL CHANNEL, CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHAT YOU MEAN BY A

         11   TOP-LEVEL CHANNEL?

         12   A.  SURE.  THE CHANNEL BAR YOU SAW IN THE DEMONSTRATION HAS

         13   BOTH CATEGORIES, LIKE NEWS OR ENTERTAINMENT.  IT ALSO HAS

         14   CHANNELS THAT ARE VISIBLE WITHOUT CLICKING THROUGH INTO A

         15   CATEGORY.  SO THAT WOULD BE THE EXAMPLE OF DISNEY YOU SAW,

         16   OR WARNER BROTHERS, OR POINTCAST.  SO THE MOST VISIBLE ONES

         17   ARE ONES WE WOULD CONSIDER TOP-LEVEL.

         18   Q.  AND HOW MANY TOP-LEVEL CHANNELS DID YOU HAVE ON THE

         19   CHANNEL BAR?

         20   A.  I THINK THERE WERE FOUR THIRD-PARTY CHANNELS AND THREE

         21   FROM MICROSOFT AT THE TOP LEVEL.  BUT I MAY BE OFF BY ONE.

         22   Q.  NOW, IN ADDITION TO WHAT YOU REFER TO AS TOP-LEVEL

         23   CHANNELS, YOU HAD OTHER CHANNELS; IS THAT CORRECT?

         24   A.  YES, THAT'S RIGHT.

         25   Q.  AND HOW MUCH DID YOU ESTIMATE YOU COULD GET ON AN ANNUAL
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          1   BASIS FOR THESE OTHER CHANNELS?

          2   A.  I DON'T RECALL THE SPECIFIC NUMBER.

          3   Q.  APPROXIMATELY.

          4   A.  A COUPLE MILLION DOLLARS.  I HONESTLY DON'T KNOW.  I

          5   WOULD HAVE TO LOOK AT THE DOCUMENT.

          6   Q.  WHAT DOCUMENT WOULD YOU LOOK AT TO ASCERTAIN THAT?

          7   A.  WE DID A BUSINESS MODEL DRAFT THAT -- PRIOR TO TAKING

          8   THE CONCEPT UP FOR APPROVAL THROUGH MANAGEMENT, WE DRAFTED

          9   THESE DIFFERENT OPTIONS, AND ONE OF THE BUSINESS MODEL

         10   VERSIONS HAD SOME ATTRIBUTION OF A POTENTIAL VALUE TO THE

         11   CHANNEL BAR.

         12   Q.  DO YOU REMEMBER THE TOTAL ANNUAL REVENUE THAT YOU

         13   ESTIMATED YOU COULD GET FROM THE CHANNEL BAR WHEN YOU WERE

         14   MAKING THESE ESTIMATES?

         15   A.  I DON'T RECALL IT RIGHT NOW AT THIS MOMENT.

         16   Q.  APPROXIMATELY, SIR.

         17   A.  MANY TENS OF MILLIONS.  MAYBE A HUNDRED MILLION.  AND IF

         18   I COULD BE CLEARER, IN HINDSIGHT, THAT ESTIMATE WAS

         19   COMPLETELY INCORRECT.

         20   Q.  NOW, YOU DECIDED NOT TO SEEK THIS REVENUE AND INSTEAD TO

         21   TRY TO USE THE VALUE OF THE CHANNEL BARS FOR OTHER PURPOSES,

         22   CORRECT?

         23   A.  NOT SPECIFICALLY.  IT'S SOMEWHAT MORE COMPLICATED THAN

         24   THAT.  AND LET ME JUST FOCUS ON THE REVENUE FOR A MOMENT.

         25   WE HAD AN UNPROVEN TECHNOLOGY, THIS "PUSH" CONCEPT.  WE HAD
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          1   THIS CHANNEL BAR.  WE'D NEVER WORKED WITH CONTENT PROVIDERS

          2   TO IN ANY WAY PROMOTE THEIR CONTENT WITHIN WINDOWS.  SO ONE

          3   OF THE CONSIDERATIONS IS -- WE MAY HAVE SOME ESTIMATES OF

          4   REVENUE, AND I COULD COME UP WITH VERY LOFTY ESTIMATES OR

          5   FAIRLY SMALL ESTIMATES, BUT OUR ESTIMATES COULD BE WRONG.

          6             SO WE ACTUALLY DECIDED NOT TO SEEK THE REVENUE,

          7   LARGELY BECAUSE WE WERE NOT CONFIDENT THAT IT WAS WORTH WHAT

          8   THE SPREADSHEET SAID.  HAVING WRITTEN MANY BUSINESS PLANS IN

          9   MY CAREER, I KNOW THAT IS FREQUENTLY THE CASE.  SO THAT WAS

         10   THE FIRST CONSIDERATION.

         11             THE OTHER CONSIDERATION WAS -- THERE ARE A NUMBER

         12   OF THEM -- BUT ANOTHER CONSIDERATION WAS THE INFANCY OF THE

         13   WEB CONTENT INDUSTRY.  AND, IN FACT, MANY WEB SITES AT THE

         14   TIME THAT WE DEVELOPED THIS MODEL WERE NOT PROFITABLE.  MANY

         15   ARE NOT TODAY, ACTUALLY.  AND SO OUR VIEW WAS THAT TO ASK

         16   FOR A LARGE SUM OF CASH, WHICH IS SOMETHING THAT'S VERY DEAR

         17   TO THEM, AT A TIME WHEN THEY WERE STRUGGLING TO MAKE THEIR

         18   BUSINESSES PROFITABLE, IN ORDER TO GET THIS PROMOTION FROM

         19   MICROSOFT, WASN'T NECESSARILY A GOOD BUSINESS MOVE FOR US OR

         20   FOR THEM.

         21             THERE WERE OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AS WELL, BUT THOSE

         22   WERE PROBABLY THE PRIMARY TWO CONSIDERATIONS FOR WHY WE

         23   DECIDED NOT TO PURSUE THE REVENUE ANGLE.

         24   Q.  LET ME SEE IF I UNDERSTAND YOUR TESTIMONY.  YOU

         25   ESTIMATED THAT YOU COULD GET MANY TENS OF MILLIONS -- MAYBE
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          1   A HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS OR MORE FROM THE CHANNEL BAR,

          2   CORRECT?  THAT WAS THE ESTIMATE THAT YOU MADE AT THE TIME?

          3   A.  THAT WAS THE SPREADSHEET THAT WE PUT TOGETHER, AND

          4   THAT'S CORRECT.

          5   Q.  AND I ASSUME YOU THAT PUT IT TOGETHER HONESTLY AND WITH

          6   AS MUCH EFFORT TO MAKE IT RIGHT AS YOU COULD AT THE TIME?

          7   A.  PRIOR TO TALKING TO CUSTOMERS FOR EXAMPLE?

          8   Q.  YES.

          9   A.  RIGHT.  YOU'D NEVER KNOW WHAT YOU COULD GET UNTIL YOU GO

         10   OUT AND TALK TO A CUSTOMER WHO'S GOING TO PAY YOU.  SO THAT

         11   WAS A VERY EARLY ESTIMATION.

         12   Q.  AND YOU NEVER WENT OUT TO CUSTOMERS TO TRY TO FIND OUT

         13   WHAT THEY'D PAY YOU, DID YOU, SIR?

         14   A.  WE DID, ACTUALLY.

         15   Q.  YOU DID?

         16   A.  SURE.

         17   Q.  WHAT CUSTOMERS DID YOU GO AND ASK HOW MUCH THEY'D PAY

         18   YOU FOR IT?

         19   A.  WE HAD CONVERSATIONS WITH A VARIETY OF THE CONTENT

         20   PROVIDERS.

         21   Q.  WHICH ONES?

         22   A.  POINTCAST WOULD BE THE FIRST ONE.

         23   Q.  AND HOW MUCH DID POINTCAST TELL YOU THEY'D PAY?

         24   A.  POINTCAST DIDN'T SAY THEY'D PAY US ANYTHING, ACTUALLY.

         25   Q.  DID YOU ASK THEM HOW MUCH THEY'D PAY YOU?
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          1   A.  THEIR VIEW WAS -- THEY'D BEEN IN THIS BUSINESS FOR QUITE

          2   SOME TIME.  THEY WERE ACTUALLY ONE OF THE PIONEERS OF PUSH.

          3   AND THEIR VIEW WAS THAT MICROSOFT HAD SOME NEW TECHNOLOGY.

          4   IT MAY OR MAY NOT BE SUCCESSFUL.  IT'S A GREAT PLACE TO DO

          5   SOME PROMOTION.  IT'S A GOOD BET FOR THE FUTURE.

          6             THEY MIGHT HAVE BEEN WILLING TO PAY US SOME

          7   NUMBER -- HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS.  BUT OUR CONCEPT

          8   OF $10 MILLION WAS TOTALLY OUT OF LINE TO THEM.  AND -- SO

          9   IT WAS.

         10   Q.  HAVE YOU FINISHED?

         11   A.  YES.

         12   Q.  MY QUESTION, SIR, WAS WHETHER YOU ASKED POINTCAST HOW

         13   MUCH THEY WOULD PAY YOU.

         14   A.  WE DISCUSSED THE VALUE, AND PART OF THAT VALUE

         15   DISCUSSION INCLUDED WHAT THEY MIGHT THINK IT'S WORTH.

         16   Q.  AND YOU PARTICIPATED IN THOSE DISCUSSIONS?

         17   A.  I WAS THE PRINCIPAL NEGOTIATOR, YES.

         18   Q.  AND WHO DID YOU TALK TO AT POINTCAST?

         19   A.  HIS NAME WAS JIM WICKETT.  HE'S A SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT

         20   OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT.

         21   Q.  HOW MUCH DID HE SAY THAT THEY'D BE PREPARED TO PAY YOU?

         22   A.  AS I SAID, I DON'T RECALL A SPECIFIC -- JIM SAYING --

         23   I'LL-WRITE-YOU-A-CHECK-RIGHT-NOW DISCUSSION, BUT WE TALKED

         24   ABOUT THE AMOUNT OF VALUE.

         25   Q.  AND HOW MUCH DID THEY SAY -- AND I REALIZE THEY WEREN'T
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          1   WRITING A CHECK -- BUT HOW MUCH DID THEY SAY THEY'D BE

          2   PREPARED TO PAY YOU ON AN ANNUAL BASIS?

          3   A.  I BELIEVE -- AGAIN, THIS IS GOING ON THREE YEARS AGO

          4   NOW, SO I'M NOT SURE I CAN TELL YOU PRECISELY WHAT HE SAID,

          5   BUT THE CONCEPT THAT HE HAD WAS THAT THIS WAS WORTH SOME

          6   NUMBER OF -- MAYBE TENS OR HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS,

          7   DEPENDING ON HOW GOOD IT WAS.  WE HADN'T EVEN BUILT THE

          8   TECHNOLOGY YET.  CERTAINLY HIS VIEW WAS IT WAS NOT WORTH THE

          9   $10 MILLION THAT I ACTUALLY PUT ON THE TABLE AS A DISCUSSION

         10   POINT.

         11   Q.  SO YOU WENT TO HIM AND YOU PUT ON THE TABLE $10 MILLION?

         12   A.  I DID.

         13   Q.  AND WHEN WAS THIS DISCUSSION, SIR?

         14   A.  IN THE FALL OF 1996.

         15   Q.  CAN YOU BE A LITTLE MORE PRECISE?

         16   A.  WELL, IT HAPPENED OVER MANY MONTHS.  SEPTEMBER WAS MAYBE

         17   THE FIRST DISCUSSIONS.  OCTOBER, NOVEMBER -- DECEMBER, THE

         18   AGREEMENT WAS SIGNED.  SO THAT WOULD ENCOMPASS MOST OF THE

         19   FALL.

         20   Q.  AND WHEN DID YOU HAVE THIS DISCUSSION IN WHICH YOU ASKED

         21   HIM FOR $10 MILLION?

         22   A.  I DON'T RECALL WHEN I FIRST HAD THAT DISCUSSION.

         23   Q.  CAN YOU GIVE ME SOME APPROXIMATION AT ALL?

         24   A.  NOVEMBER.

         25   Q.  NOVEMBER?
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          1   A.  I'M GUESSING.

          2   Q.  BUT NOVEMBER IS YOUR BEST GUESS?

          3   A.  GIVEN WE SIGNED THE CONTRACT IN EARLY DECEMBER, IT'S, I

          4   THINK, SAFE TO ASSUME THAT WE WOULD HAVE HAD THAT DISCUSSION

          5   BY NOVEMBER.

          6   Q.  ISN'T IT THE CASE, SIR, THAT PRIOR TO NOVEMBER OF 1996,

          7   YOU'D ALREADY MADE A DECISION NOT TO SEEK REVENUE?

          8   A.  ACTUALLY, WE HAD.  THAT'S, I THINK, CORRECT.

          9   Q.  ALL RIGHT.  SO THAT YOU WEREN'T ASKING POINTCAST FOR $10

         10   MILLION OF REVENUE IN NOVEMBER OF 1996 BECAUSE YOU HAD

         11   ALREADY MADE A DECISION NOT TO SEEK REVENUE, RIGHT?

         12   A.  WELL, IF I COULD BACK UP A MOMENT.  YES, WE WERE, AND

         13   THE REASON WAS ONE OF OUR -- ONE OF MY GOALS WAS TO LEAVE

         14   OUR OPTIONS OPEN FOR THE FUTURE.  AND WHILE WE HAD MADE AN

         15   INTERNAL DECISION THAT WE DID NOT HAVE CONFIDENCE IN THE

         16   VALUE OF THE TECHNOLOGY, AND THE PROMOTION, AND EVEN THAT

         17   CONSUMERS WOULD LIKE IT -- WE JUST DIDN'T KNOW -- SO

         18   THEREFORE SEEKING REVENUE WAS BAD IDEA.  WE THOUGHT THAT

         19   WITHIN SIX MONTHS WE MIGHT CHANGE OUR MIND.  SO WE WANTED TO

         20   LEAVE OUR OPTIONS OPEN.  SO, THEREFORE, I DID THAT.

         21             I DROPPED IT, BY THE WAY, AFTER POINTCAST.  WE HAD

         22   DECIDED CONCLUSIVELY THAT IT WASN'T A GOOD IDEA.

         23   Q.  SO POINTCAST WAS THE ONLY ONE THAT YOU TALKED TO ABOUT

         24   VALUE?

         25   A.  IT'S THE ONLY ONE WHERE I HAD A CONTRACT THAT REFERENCED
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          1   VALUE.

          2   Q.  WELL, DID YOU TALK TO OTHER INTERNET CONTENT PROVIDERS

          3   ABOUT WHAT YOU THOUGHT OR WHAT THEY THOUGHT IT MIGHT BE

          4   WORTH?

          5   A.  WE HAD DISCUSSIONS ABOUT THE VALUE, YES.  I CAN'T RECALL

          6   A SPECIFIC NUMBER FROM SOMEBODY, IF THAT'S WHAT YOU'RE

          7   ASKING.

          8   Q.  WELL, CAN YOU REMEMBER SPECIFIC INTERNET CONTENT

          9   PROVIDERS WITH WHOM YOU PERSONALLY HAD DISCUSSIONS

         10   CONCERNING WHAT THE VALUE OF THE CHANNEL BAR WAS?

         11   A.  SURE.  I WOULD HAVE HAD A DISCUSSION WITH ANY OF THEM.

         12   I MEAN, WE'RE DOING A BUSINESS NEGOTIATION.  YOU DISCUSS

         13   VALUE FROM BOTH SIDES.  AND YOU ARRANGE AN EQUAL, GOOD DEAL.

         14   Q.  JUST FOR EXAMPLE, YOU HAD DISCUSSIONS WITH INTUIT,

         15   CORRECT?

         16   A.  YES.

         17   Q.  AND DID YOU DISCUSS WITH INTUIT WHETHER THEY WOULD BE

         18   PREPARED TO PAY MONEY FOR PLACEMENT ON THE CHANNEL BAR?

         19   A.  AS I STATED EARLIER, AFTER THE POINTCAST NEGOTIATION, WE

         20   DECIDED THAT WE WERE NOT EVEN GOING TO ASK OR HAVE A

         21   PLACEHOLDER FOR A CASH PAYMENT BECAUSE WE JUST KNEW IT WAS

         22   NOT WHAT WE WANTED TO DO.

         23             SO THERE WAS A DISCUSSION OF VALUE.  POINTCAST MAY

         24   HAVE DISCUSSED -- I'M SORRY.  INTUIT MAY HAVE TALKED ABOUT

         25   PAYMENTS, BUT WE SAID, "LOOK, WHAT WE'RE DOING IS
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          1   CO-MARKETING AND ALL THE REST OF THE THINGS."

          2   Q.  WELL, WHEN WERE YOUR DISCUSSIONS WITH INTUIT?

          3   A.  IN THE SPRING.  I BELIEVE, MARCH/APRIL OF '97.

          4   Q.  INSOFAR AS YOU WERE AWARE, WAS ANYONE TALKING WITH

          5   INTUIT IN THE SECOND HALF OF 1996 CONCERNING EITHER ACCESS

          6   TO THE CHANNEL BAR OR TRYING TO GET INTUIT TO DISTRIBUTE

          7   MICROSOFT'S BROWSER?

          8   A.  I WAS NOT PERSONALLY INVOLVED IN ANY DISCUSSIONS WITH

          9   INTUIT IN 1996.

         10   Q.  WERE YOU AWARE OF ANY SUCH DISCUSSIONS, SIR?

         11   A.  I BECAME AWARE OF SOME AFTER THE FACT.  WHEN I DISCUSSED

         12   WITH THEM IN MARCH, I HAD LEARNED THAT THERE HAD BEEN SOME

         13   PREVIOUS DISCUSSIONS.

         14   Q.  OKAY.  SO WHEN YOU STARTED TALKING TO INTUIT IN MARCH OF

         15   1997, YOU LEARNED THAT OTHER PEOPLE FROM MICROSOFT HAD

         16   SPOKEN TO INTUIT IN 1996, CORRECT?

         17   A.  YES.  THAT'S CORRECT.

         18   Q.  WHO HAD SPOKEN TO INTUIT IN 1996?

         19   A.  I DO NOT RECALL WHO ALL HAD SPOKEN.  I DON'T RECALL

         20   PRECISELY.

         21   Q.  DO YOU RECALL ANY OF THE PEOPLE THAT SPOKE TO INTUIT

         22   ABOUT THIS?

         23   A.  I KNOW BILL GATES WAS INVOLVED AT ONE POINT.

         24   Q.  MR. GATES?

         25   A.  BUT I DON'T RECALL IF HE WAS THE ONE THAT HAD THE
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          1   DISCUSSION HIMSELF OR HE ASKED SOMEBODY TO HAVE IT FOR HIM.

          2   I DON'T RECALL THE SPECIFICS.  I DON'T RECALL THAT IT EVER

          3   WENT ANYWHERE.

          4   Q.  I JUST WANT TO BE SURE THAT I'VE GOT YOUR TESTIMONY

          5   CLEAR.  YOUR TESTIMONY IS THAT POINTCAST IS THE ONLY

          6   INTERNET CONTENT PROVIDER WITH WHOM THERE WERE DISCUSSIONS

          7   ABOUT HOW MUCH POINTCAST MIGHT ACTUALLY PAY IN CASH FOR

          8   ACCESS TO THE DESKTOP; IS THAT CORRECT?

          9   A.  NOT COMPLETELY.

         10   Q.  WHICH OTHER ONES?

         11   A.  IF I CAN BE -- TRY TO BE REALLY PRECISE.  POINTCAST IS

         12   THE ONLY ONE WHO WE APPROACHED AND SAID, "HERE'S WHAT WE

         13   THINK IT MIGHT BE WORTH," AND ACTUALLY LEFT A PLACEHOLDER IN

         14   THE CONTRACT FOR THAT.  THERE WERE MANY OTHERS WHO MAY HAVE

         15   HAD DISCUSSIONS -- AND I DON'T RECALL THE SPECIFICS, AS I

         16   SAID -- ABOUT HOW MUCH THEY MIGHT HAVE ASKED US TO PLACE A

         17   VALUE ON IT, BUT IT WAS NOT PART OF OUR PITCH TO THEM.

         18   Q.  I THINK I UNDERSTAND.  BUT LET ME JUST BE CLEAR.

         19   POINTCAST IS THE ONLY ONE THAT MICROSOFT WENT TO WITH AN

         20   IDEA OF TRYING TO FIND OUT HOW MUCH THEY WOULD PAY FOR

         21   ACCESS TO THE DESKTOP, CORRECT?

         22   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

         23   Q.  HOWEVER, OTHER INTERNET CONTENT PROVIDERS CAME TO

         24   MICROSOFT AND OFFERED TO PAY FOR ACCESS TO THE DESKTOP?

         25   A.  THAT IS MOSTLY CORRECT.  AGAIN, I WOULD LIKE TO MAKE
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          1   SURE THE CONTEXT IS CLEAR.  IN A DISCUSSION OF AN OVERALL

          2   BUSINESS ARRANGEMENT, WHICH INVOLVED A VARIETY OF DIFFERENT

          3   KINDS OF CO-MARKETING PROMOTION, TECHNOLOGICAL SUPPORT AND

          4   SO ON, A DISCUSSION OF PAYMENT FOR MARKETING VALUE WAS PART

          5   OF SOME OF THOSE DISCUSSIONS.

          6   Q.  BUT IT'S YOUR TESTIMONY THAT WAS RAISED BY THE ICP'S,

          7   NOT BY MICROSOFT?

          8   A.  I BELIEVE SO.  TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, YES.

          9   Q.  NOW, YOU DECIDED THAT RATHER THAN PURSUING REVENUE, YOU

         10   WOULD USE ACCESS TO THE DESKTOP FOR PURPOSES OF WHAT YOU

         11   REFERRED TO AS STRATEGIC BARTER, CORRECT, SIR?

         12   A.  WE DID USE THAT TERM, "STRATEGIC BARTER."  AND, AGAIN, I

         13   THINK CONTEXT IS IMPORTANT.  IT WASN'T MERELY ACCESS TO THE

         14   DESKTOP, AS YOU'VE LABELED IT.  WE'RE LOOKING AT AN OVERALL

         15   PROGRAM OF ENGAGEMENT WITH THE CONTENT PROVIDERS.  AND OUR

         16   PROMOTION OF THEM ON THE CHANNEL BAR AND A VARIETY OF OTHER

         17   PLACES WAS PART OF THAT OVERALL ENGAGEMENT.  IT WAS -- THEY

         18   ARE FAIRLY SOPHISTICATED BUSINESS DEALINGS OVER MANY YEARS,

         19   IN FACT, THAT WE HAD ANTICIPATED.

         20   Q.  ACCESS TO THE DESKTOP WAS AT LEAST ONE OF THE THINGS

         21   THAT YOU WERE OFFERING ICP'S, CORRECT?

         22   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

         23   Q.  AND DID YOU UNDERSTAND THAT ACCESS TO THE DESKTOP WAS

         24   VIEWED AT THAT TIME BY ICP'S AS BEING VERY VALUABLE?

         25   A.  YES.  THEY DID CERTAINLY VALUE THAT.  I AGREE.
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          1   Q.  AND YOU AND OTHERS AT MICROSOFT TOLD THE ICP'S THAT

          2   ACCESS TO THE DESKTOP WAS VERY VALUABLE, CORRECT, SIR?

          3   A.  I DON'T KNOW IF THOSE WERE THE PRECISE WORDS, BUT, YES,

          4   WE DID TELL THEM THAT ONE OF THE COMPONENTS OF THE

          5   ARRANGEMENT WE INTENDED TO ENTER INTO, WHICH INCLUDED

          6   PROMOTION THROUGH THE CHANNEL BAR, OR AS YOU'VE CALLED IT,

          7   ACCESS TO THE DESKTOP, WAS VALUABLE, CERTAINLY.

          8   Q.  INDEED, YOU PERSONALLY TOLD INTERNET CONTENT PROVIDERS

          9   THAT BEING ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP WAS INVALUABLE, CORRECT,

         10   SIR?

         11   A.  I DON'T KNOW IF I PERSONALLY SAID THAT OR NOT.  I CAN

         12   TELL YOU CATEGORICALLY I WAS WRONG IF I DID SAY THAT.

         13   Q.  WELL, SIR, LET'S LOOK AT PAGE 36 OF YOUR DEPOSITION.

         14   A.  PAGE 36.

         15   Q.  PAGE 36.  AND YOU CAN OBVIOUSLY LOOK AT WHATEVER YOU

         16   WANT FOR CONTEXT, BUT THE PORTION THAT I AM PARTICULARLY

         17   INTERESTED IN IS AT LINES 9 THROUGH 13.

         18   A.  YES.  I BELIEVE THAT IS CONSISTENT WITH WHAT I SAID.

         19   Q.  "QUESTION:  DID YOU PERSONALLY TELL ANY CONTENT

         20   PROVIDERS THAT THIS WAS AN INVALUABLE SPOT -- THAT BEING ON

         21   THE WINDOWS DESKTOP TOP WAS GOING TO BE A DISTRIBUTION

         22   ADVANTAGE TO THEM?"

         23             AND YOU SAY:  "SURE."

         24             AND IS THAT STILL YOUR TESTIMONY?

         25   A.  I GUESS I'D SAY I HAVE LEARNED SINCE THE DEPOSITION THAT
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          1   A SPECIFIC PHRASE OF "INVALUABLE SPOT" IS SOMETHING -- I

          2   CAN'T SAY I USED THOSE WORDS PRECISELY, BUT I CERTAINLY

          3   WOULD SAY IT HAS SIGNIFICANT VALUE AND IT'S GOING TO BE A

          4   SIGNIFICANT ADVANTAGE.  I THINK I WOULD STILL ATTEST TO THE

          5   SAME GIST.  THE SUBSTANCE IS THE SAME.  THE SUBSTANCE IS

          6   CORRECT.  YES, MR. BOIES.

          7   Q.  YOU SAY YOU LEARNED SINCE YOUR DEPOSITION THAT YOU MAY

          8   NOT HAVE USED THE WORDS "INVALUABLE SPOT"?

          9   A.  NO.  I HAVE LEARNED, SINCE MY DEPOSITION AND WATCHING

         10   SOME OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, THAT THE DECISION OF A SELECTION

         11   OF WORDS SEEMS TO BE AN IMPORTANT THING.  I AM TRYING TO

         12   TELL YOU THAT I DON'T KNOW TO WHOM I SAID THE WORDS, QUOTE,

         13   "INVALUABLE SPOT."  THE SUBSTANCE OF WHAT IS SAID THERE IS

         14   CORRECT.  AND I AGREE IT WAS CORRECT THEN AND CORRECT NOW.

         15   Q.  OKAY.  IN YOUR CONVERSATIONS WITH INTUIT, DID INTUIT

         16   TELL YOU THAT PLACEMENT ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP WAS SOMETHING

         17   THAT WAS CRITICAL TO INTUIT?

         18             THE COURT:  DID INTUIT TELL HIM?

         19             MR. BOIES:  YES.

         20             THE WITNESS:  AGAIN, I DON'T RECALL THE WORDS,

         21   QUOTE, "CRITICAL TO INTUIT," BUT THEY CERTAINLY INDICATED

         22   THE SUBSTANCE OF THAT STATEMENT IN THEIR NEGOTIATIONS WITH

         23   ME.

         24   BY MR. BOIES:

         25   Q.  OKAY.  AND DID YOU ALSO, IN SUBSTANCE, TELL INTUIT THAT
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          1   PLACEMENT ON THE DESKTOP WOULD BE VERY VALUABLE TO INTUIT?

          2   A.  IN SUBSTANCE, INITIALLY I TOLD INTUIT THAT I DIDN'T

          3   THINK THAT THEY FIT OUR MODEL AND THAT IT DIDN'T REALLY MAKE

          4   SENSE FOR THEM TO BE A CONTENT PROVIDER IN ACTIVE DESKTOP.

          5             AND AFTER MANY, MANY DISCUSSIONS, WE CERTAINLY --

          6   AS WE STARTED TO AGREE ON A BUSINESS AGREEMENT, I CERTAINLY

          7   WOULD HAVE TOLD THEM THAT THERE'S A LOT OF VALUE HERE.  IT'S

          8   A DISTRIBUTION AND MARKETING AND PROMOTION OPPORTUNITY.

          9   Q.  NOW, YOU SAY THAT INITIALLY YOU TOLD INTUIT THAT YOU

         10   WEREN'T INTERESTED IN HAVING THEM PARTICIPATE IN BEING

         11   PRESENT ON THE DESKTOP.  IS THAT WHAT I HEARD YOU SAY?

         12   A.  I TOLD THEM I WASN'T -- I DIDN'T THINK THAT THEY HAD --

         13   THEY WERE A PERSONAL FINANCIAL SOFTWARE COMPANY.  AND I SAID

         14   I DIDN'T THINK THAT THEY FIT THE MODEL OF THE KIND OF

         15   PARTNERS WE WERE TRYING TO FIND WHO WERE CONTACT COMPANIES.

         16   THERE'S A DIFFERENCE.  AND INTUIT WAS, AT THE TIME,

         17   REINVENTING ITSELF, WHICH I LATER LEARNED THROUGH MANY

         18   SUBSEQUENT DISCUSSIONS.  SO I SAID THAT, NO, I DIDN'T THINK

         19   THAT THE PROGRAM I WAS PUTTING TOGETHER REALLY MADE SENSE

         20   FOR INTUIT.

         21   Q.  YOU ULTIMATELY DETERMINED THAT IT DID MAKE SENSE FOR

         22   MICROSOFT TO INCLUDE INTUIT BECAUSE THAT WAS A WAY OF

         23   GETTING INTUIT TO GIVE YOU DISTRIBUTION ADVANTAGES FOR THE

         24   MICROSOFT BROWSER, CORRECT, SIR?

         25   A.  NO.  I WOULDN'T SAY IT THAT WAY.  WE ULTIMATELY AGREED
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          1   TO WORK WITH INTUIT BECAUSE WE DETERMINED THERE WERE A

          2   VARIETY OF DIFFERENT BENEFITS TO BOTH PARTIES FOR WORKING

          3   TOGETHER.

          4             ONE OF THOSE BENEFITS WAS THAT THEY HAD TOLD ME

          5   THEY WERE VERY INTERESTED IN USING THE COMPONENT TECHNOLOGY

          6   OF INTERNET EXPLORER AS THE -- FOR THE NEXT GENERATION OF

          7   THEIR QUICKEN PRODUCTS, WHICH IS, OF COURSE, A VERY

          8   WELL-KNOWN PRODUCT.  SO THAT'S A GOOD -- WE CALL IT "DESIGN

          9   WIN."  THAT'S SOMETHING THAT WE'RE INTERESTED IN, GETTING A

         10   VERY PROMINENT SOFTWARE PROVIDER TO USE OUR TECHNOLOGY.

         11   Q.  NOW, CORRECT ME IF I AM WRONG, SIR, BUT IT SOUNDS TO ME

         12   LIKE YOU ARE AT LEAST TRYING TO GIVE US THE IMPRESSION THAT

         13   INTUIT CAME TO YOU AND SAID, "WE'D LIKE TO USE YOUR

         14   BROWSER," AND THAT THEY -- IT WAS INTUIT'S IDEA THAT THEY

         15   USE YOUR BROWSER.  IS THAT WHAT YOU MEAN TO IMPLY?

         16   A.  I'M NOT TRYING TO IMPLY IT.  IT IS SPECIFICALLY TRUE.

         17   Q.  THAT'S WHAT YOU'RE SAYING?

         18   A.  TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.

         19   Q.  WELL, SIR, LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK AT GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT

         20   94 --

         21   A.  OKAY.

         22   Q.  -- WHICH IS ALREADY IN EVIDENCE.  NOW, THIS IS A SERIES

         23   OF E-MAILS BETWEEN OR BY MR. GATES AND MR. CHASE IN JULY,

         24   AUGUST AND SEPTEMBER OF 1996, CORRECT, SIR?

         25   A.  I'M SORRY.  COULD I HAVE A MOMENT TO REVIEW IT?  I'VE
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          1   NEVER SEEN THIS BEFORE.

          2   Q.  CERTAINLY.  WHEN YOU HAVE FINISHED, PLEASE LET ME KNOW.

          3   A.  OKAY.  WHAT IS YOUR QUESTION, MR. BOIES?

          4   Q.  FIRST, THIS IS A SERIES OF E-MAILS IN JULY, AUGUST AND

          5   SEPTEMBER OF 1996 FROM MR. GATES AND MR. CHASE, CORRECT?

          6   A.  THAT APPEARS TO BE TRUE, YES.

          7   Q.  AND IT'S YOUR TESTIMONY THAT YOU'VE NEVER SEEN THIS

          8   DOCUMENT BEFORE, CORRECT?

          9   A.  I DON'T BELIEVE SO, NO.

         10   Q.  FOR EXAMPLE, NOBODY SHOWED THIS DOCUMENT TO YOU IN

         11   PREPARATION FOR YOUR TESTIMONY HERE?

         12   A.  I DON'T RECALL SEEING IT.

         13   Q.  NOW, THIS -- ASSUMING THAT IT'S NOT JUST MADE UP BY

         14   MR. GATES -- PURPORTS TO DESCRIBE VARIOUS CONVERSATIONS THAT

         15   HE HAS HAD WITH THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF INTUIT,

         16   CORRECT?

         17   A.  WITH SCOTT COOK, YES.  I BELIEVE THAT'S CORRECT.

         18   Q.  AND THIS PREDATES YOUR CONVERSATIONS WITH INTUIT,

         19   CORRECT, SIR?

         20   A.  BY ROUGHLY SIX MONTHS, THAT'S CORRECT.

         21   Q.  RIGHT.  AND MR. GATES INDICATES THAT HE IS TRYING TO GET

         22   INTUIT TO AGREE TO SHIP THE MICROSOFT BROWSER, CORRECT?

         23   A.  I'M NOT SURE I WOULD PARAPHRASE IT THAT WAY.  I THINK --

         24   IT LOOKS LIKE -- WHAT I SEE IS HE'S TALKING -- HE SAYS, "I

         25   TALKED TO HIM ABOUT HOW A COMPONENTIZED BROWSER IS A GREAT
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          1   THING."  HE IS SELLING TECHNOLOGY.

          2   Q.  WELL, I DO WANT TO COME BACK TO THAT, MR. POOLE, BUT IF

          3   YOU'D LOOK AT THE NEXT PARAGRAPH, MR. GATES WRITES AT THE

          4   VERY BOTTOM OF THE PAGE, "I WAS QUITE FRANK WITH HIM" --

          5   THIS IS MR. GATES DESCRIBING HIS CONVERSATION WITH MR. SCOTT

          6   COOK OF INTUIT, CORRECT?

          7   A.  APPARENTLY, YES.

          8   Q.  "I WAS QUITE FRANK WITH HIM THAT IF HE HAD A FAVOR WE

          9   COULD DO FOR HIM THAT WOULD COST US SOMETHING LIKE $1

         10   MILLION TO DO THAT IN RETURN FOR SWITCHING BROWSERS IN THE

         11   NEXT FEW MONTHS, I WOULD BE OPEN TO DOING THAT."

         12             DO YOU SEE THAT, SIR?

         13   A.  YES, I SEE THAT.

         14   Q.  AND DO YOU THINK THAT IT IS FAIR TO SAY THAT MR. GATES

         15   WAS SAYING HERE THAT HE WANTED TO CONVINCE INTUIT TO SHIP

         16   THE MICROSOFT BROWSER?

         17   A.  AGAIN, MR. BOIES, I THINK WHAT WE'RE TALKING ABOUT HERE

         18   IS CONVERSATIONS IN A SALES PROCESS THAT INVOLVE INTUIT

         19   CERTAINLY SHIPPING THE BROWSER, YES.  THAT'S CERTAINLY A

         20   PIECE OF IT.

         21   Q.  A PIECE OF WHAT MICROSOFT WANTED?

         22   A.  A PIECE OF THIS DISCUSSION -- PART OF THIS DISCUSSION.

         23   THAT'S RIGHT.

         24   Q.  WAS IT A PIECE OF WHAT MICROSOFT WANTED?

         25   A.  YES.  WE WANTED TECHNOLOGY DOCTORS, LIKE INTUIT, TO USE
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          1   OUR TECHNOLOGIES.

          2   Q.  YOU WANTED THEM TO SHIP YOUR BROWSER, RIGHT?  THAT'S

          3   WHAT MR. GATES IS TALKING ABOUT HERE, RIGHT?

          4   A.  YES, SHIPPING OUR BROWSERS IS A PART OF USING THE

          5   TECHNOLOGY, CONSIDERING IT WAS THE LATEST VERSION OF THE

          6   TECHNOLOGY, AND SO THEY COULDN'T MAKE USE OF IT BECAUSE IT

          7   WAS NOT OTHERWISE AVAILABLE -- HADN'T BEEN DISTRIBUTED TO

          8   THE INSTALL BASE YET.

          9   Q.  AND WHAT MR. GATES IS TALKING ABOUT IS SWITCHING FROM

         10   THE NETSCAPE BROWSER TO THE MICROSOFT BROWSER, CORRECT?

         11   A.  I THINK WHAT MR. GATES IS SAYING IS THAT THERE ARE

         12   TECHNOLOGICAL ADVANTAGES, AND THAT THE NETSCAPE BROWSER IS

         13   AN INFERIOR PRODUCT, BUT I'M NOT MAYBE AN EXPERT IN

         14   INTERPRETING HIS WORDS.

         15   Q.  WELL, SIR, USING THE WORDS IN THE ORDINARY WAY THAT YOU

         16   WOULD USE THEM WITHIN MICROSOFT, WHEN MR. GATES SAYS HE IS

         17   GOING TO PAY A MILLION DOLLARS TO GET INTUIT TO SWITCH

         18   BROWSERS IN THE NEXT FEW MONTHS, DO YOU THINK HE IS TALKING

         19   ABOUT SWITCHING BROWSERS FROM NETSCAPE'S BROWSER TO

         20   MICROSOFT'S BROWSER?

         21   A.  "SWITCHING BROWSERS" IS CLEARLY REFERRING TO SWITCHING

         22   FROM NETSCAPE'S BROWSER TO MICROSOFT'S BROWSER, YES.  I

         23   AGREE WITH YOU.  I'M SORRY IF I WAS NOT CLEAR.

         24   Q.  OKAY.  NOW, MR. GATES IS ALSO, AS YOU POINTED OUT HERE,

         25   TRYING TO SELL MR. COOK ON THE ADVANTAGES OF WHAT YOU REFER
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          1   TO AS A COMPONENTIZED BROWSER, CORRECT?

          2   A.  I BELIEVE SO, YES.  ABSOLUTELY.

          3   Q.  AND THIS IS, AS YOU SAY, SIX MONTHS BEFORE YOU SAY

          4   INTUIT APPROACHED YOU SAYING THAT THEY WANTED TO USE YOUR

          5   COMPONENTIZED BROWSER?

          6   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.  I'M SORRY.  IT'S CLOSER TO NINE MONTHS.

          7   Q.  AND IN SEPTEMBER, MR. CHASE WRITES TO MR. GATES AND

          8   OTHERS THAT HE HAS TALKED TO INTUIT AGAIN IN SEPTEMBER AND

          9   HE DOESN'T THINK THAT INTUIT IS PREPARED TO SWITCH FROM

         10   NETSCAPE TO MICROSOFT.  AND MR. CHASE SUGGESTED THAT INTUIT

         11   AT LEAST SHIP BOTH BROWSERS, CORRECT, SIR?

         12   A.  YES.  THAT'S WHAT MR. CHASE'S MAIL SAYS.

         13   Q.  OKAY.  NOW, ULTIMATELY, AS YOU'VE SAID, YOU DID HAVE

         14   CONVERSATIONS WITH INTUIT.  AND YOU TOLD INTUIT THAT IF THEY

         15   WERE GOING TO HAVE ACCESS TO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP, THEY WOULD

         16   HAVE TO LIMIT ANY ACTIVITIES THEY HAD WITH COMPETING BROWSER

         17   COMPANIES, CORRECT?

         18   A.  PARTLY.  IF I COULD BE CLEAR ON THE OVERALL -- THE

         19   NEGOTIATION IS, OF COURSE, MORE COMPLICATED THAN THAT ONE

         20   SUMMARY STATEMENT.  THEY WISHED TO TAKE PART IN A MARKETING

         21   PROGRAM WE WERE DOING WITH ACTIVE CHANNELS.  THEY ALSO

         22   WANTED TO HAVE SOME SPECIAL RIGHTS FOR SHIPPING OUR

         23   TECHNOLOGY AND GETTING EXTRA SUPPORT AND THINGS LIKE THAT.

         24             WE HAVE A VARIETY OF WAYS WE CAN WORK WITH

         25   PARTNERS IN THOSE MARKETING PROGRAMS, AND WE HAVE DIFFERENT
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          1   LEVELS OF ENGAGEMENT.  THEY INDICATED THAT THEY WANTED TO

          2   HAVE THE HIGHEST POSSIBLE LEVEL OF ENGAGEMENT OF MARKETING

          3   AND PROMOTION AND SUPPORT FROM MICROSOFT.

          4             AND, YES, I DID STATE THAT ONE OF OUR TERMS FOR

          5   THAT LEVEL OF ENGAGEMENT, WHICH WE CALL THE PLATINUM LEVEL,

          6   HAD RESTRICTIONS ON PROMOTION OF COMPETING OR OTHER BROWSER

          7   MANUFACTURERS' PRODUCTS, AND THAT WOULD INCLUDE NETSCAPE.

          8   Q.  WHEN YOU HAD THESE CONVERSATIONS WITH INTUIT, DID INTUIT

          9   TELL YOU THAT THEY WANTED TO HAVE ALL OF THESE CO-MARKETING

         10   ARRANGEMENTS WITH YOU, OR DID THEY SIMPLY SAY THEY WANTED TO

         11   BE ON THE DESKTOP?

         12   A.  I DON'T KNOW.  YOU KNOW, WE STOOD IN A CONFERENCE ROOM

         13   AND WROTE STUFF UP ON WHITE BOARDS AND SAID, "HERE'S THINGS

         14   WE'RE DOING; HERE'S THINGS YOU'RE DOING."  IT'S THE USUAL

         15   KIND OF BUSINESS-NEGOTIATION PROCESS.

         16             IT WAS NO QUESTION THAT THEIR PROMOTION THROUGH

         17   THE ACTIVE CHANNEL-BAR FEATURE WAS VERY IMPORTANT TO THEM.

         18   NO QUESTION.

         19   Q.  IS IT FAIR TO SAY, SIR, THAT AS FAR AS INTUIT WAS

         20   CONCERNED, WHAT INTUIT WAS PRIMARILY INTERESTED IN WAS

         21   GETTING ACCESS TO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP?

         22   A.  NO, SIR.

         23   Q.  THAT'S NOT SO?

         24   A.  I THINK INTUIT, AS IS BORNE OUT BY -- IF YOU LOOK AT

         25   THEIR PRODUCT, THEY WERE ALSO VERY INTERESTED IN THIS

                                                                              44

          1   COMPONENT-BROWSER TECHNOLOGY, AND IT'S, IN FACT, BEEN VERY

          2   IMPORTANT TO THEM.

          3             RELATIVE TO MY MARKETING PROGRAM, WERE THEY

          4   INTERESTED IN THE DESKTOP?  SURE.  BUT RELATIVE TO THE

          5   OVERALL RELATIONSHIP WITH MICROSOFT, THEY WERE INTERESTED IN

          6   OUR TECHNOLOGY AND THE MARKETING PROGRAM.

          7   Q.  BUT, SIR, YOU WERE PERFECTLY PREPARED TO GIVE THEM YOUR

          8   TECHNOLOGY.  IN OTHER WORDS, YOU WERE PERFECTLY PREPARED TO

          9   GIVE THEM YOUR COMPONENTIZED BROWSER IF THEY'D SHIP IT,

         10   RIGHT?

         11   A.  CERTAINLY.

         12   Q.  RIGHT.  IN OTHER WORDS, IF YOU HADN'T ENTERED INTO A

         13   CHANNEL AGREEMENT -- IF INTUIT WAS WILLING TO, YOU WOULD

         14   HAVE BEEN HAPPY TO HAVE THEM SHIP YOUR COMPONENTIZED

         15   BROWSER, RIGHT?

         16   A.  ABSOLUTELY.

         17   Q.  OKAY.  NOW, SO SHIPPING -- THE ABILITY TO SHIP YOUR

         18   COMPONENTIZED BROWSER WAS NOT SOMETHING YOU WERE GIVING TO

         19   THEM IN ORDER TO GET THEM TO DO SOMETHING.  THAT WAS

         20   SOMETHING THEY KNEW THEY COULD DO AND THEY KNEW FROM

         21   MR. GATES THEY COULD DO?

         22   A.  IT ACTUALLY WASN'T QUITE THAT SIMPLE.  AGAIN, IF YOU

         23   LOOK AT THE DETAILS OF THE CONTRACT, THEY WANTED MORE THAN

         24   JUST TO SHIP OUR STANDARD COMPONENTIZED BROWSER.  THEY

         25   WANTED A WHOLE LOT OF TECHNICAL SUPPORT FOR THE WIN 16
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          1   VERSION OF THE TECHNOLOGY.  THERE WERE OTHER THINGS THAT

          2   THEY WANTED FROM US.  BUT -- SORRY.  GO AHEAD.

          3   Q.  NO.  FINISH.

          4   A.  I'M FINISHED.

          5   Q.  YOU'RE FINISHED.  OKAY.

          6             LET ME BE SURE I'VE GOT YOUR TESTIMONY.  I ASKED

          7   YOU BEFORE WHETHER IT WAS YOUR UNDERSTANDING THAT THE

          8   PRIMARY THING THAT INTUIT WANTED FROM YOU, OTHER THAN THE

          9   COMPONENTIZED BROWSER WHICH THEY KNEW THEY COULD HAVE

         10   ANYTIME, WAS ACCESS TO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP.

         11   A.  AND WHEN YOU SAY "YOU," DO YOU MEAN "ME," WILL POOLE, OR

         12   "ME," MICROSOFT.

         13   Q.  I MEANT MICROSOFT, SIR.

         14   A.  OKAY.  I THINK IT WAS CLEAR FROM THE WAY THEY APPROACHED

         15   THE NEGOTIATIONS THAT THEY WANTED TO GET THE BEST POSSIBLE

         16   MARKETING AND PROMOTION DEAL THEY COULD GET.  THEY, I THINK,

         17   HAD MADE A DECISION, IN FACT, ON USING OUR TECHNOLOGY,

         18   ALTHOUGH THEY, DURING THE NEGOTIATIONS, MAY NOT HAVE BEEN SO

         19   CLEAR ABOUT THAT.  AND THEY THEN SAID, "HEY, WE'RE GOING TO

         20   USE THIS TECHNOLOGY.  LET'S GO TO MICROSOFT AND GET A GREAT

         21   DEAL WHILE WE USE IT.  IT MAKES SENSE.  GOOD BUSINESS."

         22   Q.  MY QUESTION IS WHAT THEY WANTED.

         23   A.  I CAN'T SPEAK FOR INTUIT SPECIFICALLY.  I'M JUST TELLING

         24   YOU MY PERCEPTION.

         25   Q.  DIDN'T THEY TELL YOU WHAT THEY WANTED?  DIDN'T THE
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          1   INTUIT PEOPLE TELL YOU WHAT THEY WANTED?

          2   A.  YES.  THEY SAID -- I THINK I'VE BEEN CLEAR.  I'M SORRY,

          3   BUT THEY SAID THAT THEY WANTED THE BEST POSSIBLE PROMOTION

          4   THAT WE COULD GIVE THEM, WHICH INVOLVED INCLUSION ON THE

          5   ACTIVE CHANNEL BAR.

          6   Q.  WHAT THEY TOLD YOU THAT THEY WANTED WAS INCLUSION ON THE

          7   DESKTOP, THE HIGHEST THAT THEY COULD GET, RIGHT?

          8   A.  YES.

          9   Q.  OKAY.  AND YOU TOLD THEM -- YOU, MICROSOFT, TOLD THEM --

         10   THAT IF THEY WERE GOING TO GET THAT, THEY WOULD HAVE TO

         11   AGREE TO LIMIT WHAT THEY COULD DO WITH NETSCAPE, CORRECT?

         12   A.  THAT IS CORRECT.  WHAT WE SAID WAS THAT THE TERMS FOR

         13   PARTICIPATION AT THAT TOP LEVEL OF THAT MARKETING PROGRAM

         14   HAD LIMITATIONS ON HOW THEY WOULD MARKET WITH OTHER BROWSER

         15   MANUFACTURES, OF WHOM NETSCAPE WAS THE PRIMARY ONE.  THAT'S

         16   CORRECT.

         17   Q.  NOW, YOU SAY NETSCAPE WAS THE PRIMARY ONE.  YOU SAY IN

         18   YOUR DIRECT TESTIMONY THAT THERE WERE A NUMBER OF OTHER

         19   BROWSER COMPETITORS AT THE TIME, CORRECT?

         20   A.  YES.  THEY WERE MINOR.

         21   Q.  YOU MENTIONED ONE OF THEM, OPERA, BUT YOU DON'T MENTION

         22   ANY OF THE OTHER ONES.  AND ORDINARILY WHEN YOU SAY THERE

         23   WERE A NUMBER OF OTHER BROWSER COMPETITORS, THAT MEANS YOU

         24   HAVE IN MIND MORE THAN ONE.

         25   A.  WOULD YOU LIKE ME TO ENUMERATE?
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          1   Q.  I WOULD.

          2   A.  I THINK OPERA, IN FACT, DID NOT EXIST AT THE TIME WE

          3   WROTE THESE CONTRACTS, WHICH IS WHY I BRING IT UP.  IT'S A

          4   NEW ENTRANT, BUT AT THE TIME WE WROTE THE CONTRACTS, I

          5   BELIEVE THE TWO OTHERS WERE -- THE IBM WEB EXPLORER AND THE

          6   APPLE CYBERDOG WERE THE OTHER TWO PRIMARY ONES.  THERE WERE,

          7   OF COURSE, MANY OTHERS.  IF YOU GO TO THAT WEB SITE, YOU'LL

          8   SEE A LIST.  THEY GO ON AND ON.

          9   Q.  WHICH ONES, SIR?  JUST GIVE ME SOME --

         10   A.  THOSE ARE THE TWO THAT COME TO MIND.

         11   Q.  DO ANY OTHERS COME TO MIND?

         12   A.  THERE'S ONE CALLED LINKS THAT'S A TAX-BASED BROWSER.

         13   THERE'S ONE THAT'S PART OF LINUX, WHOSE NAME I DON'T RECALL.

         14   THERE'S ONES FROM -- IN FACT, AS FAR AS I COULD TELL, EVERY

         15   PLATFORM VENDOR HAD SOME KIND OF BROWSING TECHNOLOGY THAT

         16   SEEMED TO SHOW UP ON THAT LIST.

         17   Q.  NOW, WHEN YOU WERE TALKING ABOUT OTHER BROWSERS --

         18   A.  SORRY.  SUN HOT JAVA WOULD BE ANOTHER ONE THAT COMES TO

         19   MIND.

         20   Q.  AND WAS THAT AVAILABLE AT THE TIME?

         21   A.  UH-HUH.  YES, IT WAS.

         22   Q.  NOW, IF SOMEBODY WANTED TO HAVE A PROMOTION OR WANTED TO

         23   WORK WITH OPERA OR SUN HOT JAVA, THAT WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN

         24   PROHIBITED BY THEIR AGREEMENT WITH YOU, RIGHT?

         25   A.  YOU'D HAVE TO LOOK AT THE SPECIFIC LANGUAGE OF THE
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          1   AGREEMENT AND TIME.

          2   Q.  I'M ASKING FOR YOUR UNDERSTANDING, SIR.

          3   A.  WELL, I'M JUST TELLING YOU IT VARIES BY AGREEMENT AND IT

          4   VARIES BY TIME.

          5   Q.  WELL, LET'S TALK ABOUT INTUIT.

          6   A.  OKAY.

          7   Q.  YOU SIGNED AN AGREEMENT ON JUNE 6TH, 1997 WITH INTUIT,

          8   CORRECT, SIR?

          9   A.  I BELIEVE THAT WAS THE DATE, IF THAT'S WHAT YOU SAID.

         10   COULD I HAVE A COPY OF THAT IF WE'RE GOING TO DISCUSS IT?

         11   Q.  CERTAINLY.

         12             MR. BOIES:  COULD THE WITNESS BE GIVEN A COPY OF

         13   GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 1156?

         14             THE COURT:  ALL RIGHT.

         15             I THINK WE'LL TAKE A BRIEF RECESS NOW WHILE HE

         16   LOOKS AT THE AGREEMENT.

         17             MR. BOIES:  THANK YOU, YOUR HONOR.

         18             (RECESS WAS TAKEN.)

         19             (AFTER RECESS.)

         20   BY MR. BOIES:

         21   Q.  MR. POOLE, DURING THE RECESS, DID YOU HAVE A CHANCE TO

         22   REVIEW GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT 1156?

         23   A.  I AM FAMILIAR WITH IT, YES.

         24   Q.  AND IS THAT THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN MICROSOFT AND INTUIT?

         25   A.  YES.
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          1   Q.  AND IN NEGOTIATING THAT AGREEMENT, WAS INTUIT TOLD THAT

          2   IN ORDER TO GET PLACEMENT ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP, INTUIT

          3   WOULD HAVE TO FOREGO BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS WITH NETSCAPE?

          4   A.  NOT IN THOSE SPECIFIC WORDS, BUT THE NET EFFECT OF THE

          5   TERMS WERE THAT THERE WERE LIMITATIONS ON HOW INTUIT COULD

          6   WORK WITH OTHER BROWSER MANUFACTURERS, OF WHOM WE

          7   ESTABLISHED NETSCAPE WOULD BE THE PREMIER ONE.  AND I

          8   WOULDN'T SAY IT WOULD BE, QUOTE, FOREGO BUSINESS

          9   RELATIONSHIPS, NO.

         10   Q.  LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK AT PARAGRAPH 61 OF MR. HARRIS'

         11   TESTIMONY.

         12   A.  I DON'T HAVE THAT HERE.

         13   Q.  I AM GOING TO SHOW IT TO YOU.  AND WHILE IT'S BEING

         14   LANDED TO YOU, SIR, LET ME ASK YOU A COUPLE PRELIMINARY

         15   QUESTIONS.

         16             YOU KNOW WHO MR. HARRIS IS?

         17   A.  YES, MR. BOIES.

         18   Q.  AND YOU HAVE MET AND WORKED WITH HIM?

         19   A.  YES.

         20   Q.  AND YOU BELIEVE HIM TO BE A PERSON OF COMPETENCE AND

         21   INTEGRITY, DO YOU NOT, SIR?

         22   A.  GENERALLY, YES.

         23   Q.  NOW, WOULD YOU LOOK AT PARAGRAPH 61?

         24   A.  THAT'S ON PAGE 23?

         25   Q.  ON PAGE 23.
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          1   A.  GOT IT.

          2   Q.  AND THE PORTION I AM INTERESTED IN IS REALLY THE LAST

          3   COUPLE OF SENTENCES, BUT JUST FOR CONTEXT, MR. HARRIS IS, AT

          4   THE BEGINNING, SAYING THAT PLACEMENT ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP

          5   WAS CRITICAL TO INTUIT BECAUSE IT MEANT POTENTIALLY HAVING

          6   ACCESS TO MILLIONS OF P.C. USERS.

          7             DO YOU SEE THAT?

          8   A.  I BELIEVE IT SAYS "PLACEMENT ON THAT PORTAL WAS

          9   CRITICAL."  THAT'S CORRECT.  I ASSUME HE IS REFERRING TO THE

         10   DESKTOP.

         11   Q.  WELL, SIR, LET'S GO BACK TO THE IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING

         12   SENTENCE WHERE IT SAYS "APPEARANCE OF A QUICKEN.COM LOGO ON

         13   THE ACTIVE DESKTOP WOULD NOT ONLY PROMOTE INTUIT'S WEB SITE,

         14   BUT WOULD ALSO PERMIT EVERY P.C. USER SIMPLY TO CLICK ON THE

         15   LOGO AND GO DIRECTLY TO THE QUICKEN.COM SITE.  MICROSOFT'S

         16   PROPRIETARY CONTROL OF THE WINDOWS OPERATING SYSTEM GAVE

         17   MICROSOFT THE UNIQUE OPPORTUNITY TO OFFER THIS ACTIVE

         18   DESKTOP SERVICE.

         19             "PLACEMENT ON THAT PORTAL WAS CRITICAL TO INTUIT

         20   BECAUSE IT MEANT POTENTIALLY HAVING ACCESS TO MILLIONS OF

         21   P.C. USERS."

         22             DO YOU SEE THAT, SIR?

         23   A.  I SEE IT.  I DON'T AGREE WITH IT, BUT I SEE IT.

         24   Q.  OKAY.  BUT IT IS CLEAR TO YOU THAT WHAT HE IS TALKING

         25   ABOUT THERE IS PLACEMENT ON THE ACTIVE DESKTOP, RIGHT?
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          1   A.  I BELIEVE SO, YES.

          2   Q.  DID MR. HARRIS TELL YOU, IN WORDS OR IN SUBSTANCE, THAT

          3   THAT WAS INTUIT'S VIEW DURING THE NEGOTIATIONS?

          4   A.  DID HE TELL ME WHAT EXACTLY?  THAT THE PLACEMENT WAS

          5   CRITICAL TO INTUIT?

          6   Q.  THAT INTUIT BELIEVED THAT PLACEMENT ON THE WINDOWS

          7   DESKTOP WAS CRITICAL TO INTUIT BECAUSE IT MEANT POTENTIALLY

          8   HAVING ACCESS TO MILLIONS OF P.C. USERS?  WHETHER YOU AGREE

          9   THAT THAT IS ACTUALLY THE FACT OR NOT, DID THEY TELL YOU

         10   THAT THEY BELIEVED THAT THAT WAS THE FACT?

         11   A.  THEY TOLD ME IT WAS VERY IMPORTANT TO THEM.  "CRITICAL,"

         12   I THINK, HAS A STRONGER MEANING THAN "IMPORTANT," BUT CLOSE.

         13   Q.  LET ME GO TO THE LAST TWO SENTENCES OF PARAGRAPH 61,

         14   WHERE IT SAYS THAT DURING NEGOTIATIONS OF AN AGREEMENT BY

         15   WHICH INTUIT COULD OBTAIN PLACEMENT FOR ITS WEB SITES ON THE

         16   ACTIVE DESKTOP, HOWEVER, INTUIT LEARNED THAT ANY SUCH

         17   AGREEMENT WOULD REQUIRE, AS A CONDITION, THAT INTUIT FOREGO

         18   ANY BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS WITH NETSCAPE, MICROSOFT'S

         19   PRINCIPAL COMPETITOR IN THE BROWSER MARKET.

         20             DID YOU OR, TO YOUR KNOWLEDGE, OTHERS AT MICROSOFT

         21   CONVEY THAT TO INTUIT IN WORDS OR IN SUBSTANCE, SIR?

         22   A.  NO, SIR.  WOULD YOU LIKE ME TO CLARIFY?

         23   Q.  I AM SORRY?  WHAT?

         24   A.  WOULD YOU LIKE TO TO BE EXPLAIN WHAT IS INCONSISTENT

         25   BETWEEN WHAT HE IS SAYING AND WHAT I BELIEVE TOOK PLACE?
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          1   Q.  WELL, FIRST OF ALL, WHAT YOU'RE SAYING IS WHAT HE SAYS

          2   IS NOT TRUE, RIGHT?

          3   A.  I BELIEVE HIS CHARACTERIZATION IS NOT TRUE FROM THE

          4   PERSPECTIVE OF OUR NEGOTIATIONS, BECAUSE THE CONCEPT OF

          5   FOREGOING ANY BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP IS A VERY SIGNIFICANT

          6   CONCEPT.  I WOULD NOT HAVE SAID THAT, NUMBER ONE.  AND IT IS

          7   NOT TRUE WITH RESPECT TO THE CONTRACT WE IMPLEMENTED.

          8   THAT'S ALL.

          9   Q.  DO YOU HAVE ANYTHING ELSE?

         10   A.  I AM SURE, BUT I WILL TAKE MY TIME.

         11   Q.  OKAY.  LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK AT PARAGRAPH 68 OF

         12   MR. HARRIS' TESTIMONY.  BEGINNING ON PAGE 26, AT THE VERY

         13   BOTTOM OF THE PAGE, THERE MR. HARRIS SAYS THAT HE HAD A

         14   MEETING WITH YOU IN A CONFERENCE ROOM AT THE SAN FRANCISCO

         15   AIRPORT IN APRIL OR MAY OF 1997.

         16             DO YOU SEE THAT?

         17   A.  YES.

         18   Q.  IS THAT TRUE, SIR?

         19   A.  YES.  I BELIEVE I REMEMBER THE CONFERENCE ROOM.

         20   Q.  AND HE SAYS -- MR. HARRIS SAYS THAT AT THAT MEETING, HE

         21   ARGUED HARD FOR RELAXATION OF THE RESTRICTIONS ON DEALING

         22   WITH NETSCAPE, AND, INDEED, THAT WAS A MAJOR PURPOSE OF THE

         23   FACE-TO-FACE MEETING THAT HE HAD WITH YOU.

         24             IS THAT TRUE, SIR?

         25   A.  I BELIEVE WE CERTAINLY HAD A DISCUSSION ABOUT THAT, AND
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          1   IT HAD BEEN A KEY NEGOTIATING POINT FOR BOTH SIDES FOR SOME

          2   TIME.  SO I HAVE NO REASON TO DISBELIEVE THE WORDS "ARGUED

          3   HARD."  I THINK THAT SOUNDS REASONABLE TO ME.

          4   Q.  AND THE LAST SENTENCE SAYS, "MR. POOLE REITERATED THAT

          5   HE HAD NO ABILITY TO NEGOTIATE ON THIS POINT BECAUSE

          6   MR. GATES HAD MANDATED THAT ALL PREFERRED PARTICIPANTS ON

          7   THE ACTIVE DESKTOP MUST AGREE TO CEASE WORKING WITH NETSCAPE

          8   AS A CONDITION OF THAT PARTICIPATION."

          9             IS THAT TRUE, SIR?

         10   A.  THAT I WOULD HAVE TO DISAGREE WITH IN THE SENSE THAT,

         11   PARTICULARLY AT THIS POINT, THE AGREEMENT WAS WELL

         12   UNDERSTOOD TO INTUIT.  AND, IN FACT, IT WAS UNDERSTOOD THAT

         13   INTUIT COULD HAVE A CERTAIN SET OF RELATIONSHIPS WITH

         14   NETSCAPE.  THAT THERE WERE SIMPLY RESTRICTIONS ON THEM

         15   RELATIVE TO MARKETING PROMOTION AND OTHER AREAS.

         16             SO I REALLY WANT TO TAKE EXCEPTION TO HIS

         17   CHARACTERIZATION OF "CEASE WORKING WITH NETSCAPE."  I THINK

         18   THAT IS TOO STRONG.  I DO NOT AGREE, NOR WOULD I HAVE EVER

         19   SAID THAT BILL GATES SAID THAT, BECAUSE HE DIDN'T.

         20   Q.  WOULD IT BE ACCURATE TO PUT IT THIS WAY, SIR?  THAT YOU

         21   TOLD MR. HARRIS THAT YOU HAD NO ABILITY TO NEGOTIATE ON THIS

         22   POINT BECAUSE MR. GATES HAD MANDATED THAT ALL PREFERRED

         23   PARTICIPANTS ON THE ACTIVE DESKTOP MUST AGREE TO CERTAIN

         24   RESTRICTIONS ON WORKING WITH NETSCAPE AS A CONDITION OF THAT

         25   PARTICIPATION?
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          1   A.  YES.

          2   Q.  OKAY.  NOW, WHAT CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS DID MR. GATES

          3   MANDATE THAT ALL PREFERRED PARTICIPANTS ON THE ACTIVE

          4   DESKTOP WOULD HAVE TO AGREE TO?

          5   A.  HE DIDN'T MANDATE DETAILS.  WHAT HE SAID WAS --

          6             THE COURT:  WHO IS "HE"?

          7             THE WITNESS:  I AM SORRY.  BILL GATES.

          8             WHAT HE SAID, WHEN WE REVIEWED OUR BUSINESS PLAN

          9   WITH HIM BACK IN THE FALL OF '96 -- ACTUALLY, I DON'T KNOW

         10   THAT HE SAID AT THAT TIME, BUT THROUGH SUBSEQUENT

         11   DISCUSSIONS OR AT THAT TIME -- ONE OR THE OTHER -- IT HAD

         12   BEEN CLEAR THAT THE TOP-LEVEL AND PLATINUM-LEVEL PARTNERS

         13   THAT WE WORKED WITH IN ACTIVE DESKTOP WOULD BE PROMOTING

         14   MICROSOFT INTERNET EXPLORER PREFERENTIALLY TO NETSCAPE

         15   NAVIGATOR AND ANY OTHER LEADING BROWSERS.

         16             THAT WAS BASICALLY THE TERM.  THERE ARE MORE

         17   DETAILS THAT I PUT TOGETHER IN THE CONTRACTS THAT WE

         18   ULTIMATELY IMPLEMENTED, BUT THAT WAS SORT OF THE HIGH-LEVEL

         19   MESSAGE FROM MR. GATES.

         20   BY MR. BOIES:

         21   Q.  WHEN YOU ULTIMATELY AGREED ON THE TERMS FOR THE

         22   AGREEMENT WITH INTUIT, WAS MR. GATES ADVISED OF WHAT THOSE

         23   TERMS WERE?

         24   A.  I BELIEVE I ADVISED MY MANAGER, BRAD CHASE, WHO I

         25   BELIEVE FORWARDED THE INFORMATION ON TO MR. GATES.
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          1   Q.  LET ME ASK THAT YOU TAKE A LOOK AT GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT

          2   206.  AND I WILL ASK YOU WHETHER THIS IS THE COMMUNICATION

          3   THAT YOU'RE REFERRING TO.

          4   A.  YES, MR. BOIES.  THIS IS WHAT I WAS REFERRING TO.

          5   Q.  AND DOES THIS ACCURATELY STATE OR SUMMARIZE THE TERMS OF

          6   THE INTUIT/MICROSOFT AGREEMENT?

          7   A.  I THINK IT IS A SUMMARY OF WHAT WE HAD AGREED ON AS WE

          8   LABELED THE SALIENT TERMS THEN IN APRIL.  GIVEN THAT WE

          9   DIDN'T SIGN IT UNTIL JUNE, I AM SURE THERE WERE THINGS THAT

         10   CAME IN BETWEEN APRIL AND JUNE, SO I CAN'T TELL YOU THAT

         11   IT'S A COMPLETE SUMMARY OR THAT EVERY ITEM THERE IS

         12   ACCURATE.  I HAVE NOT CHECKED IT AGAINST THE CONTRACT.

         13   Q.  THIS IS ONLY A LITTLE BIT LESS THAN A PAGE.  TAKE A

         14   MOMENT TO READ IT.  WHEN YOU HAVE FINISHED READING IT, LET

         15   ME KNOW.

         16   A.  WHAT I AM TELLING YOU IS TO TELL CATEGORICALLY THAT THIS

         17   IS AN EXACT SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACT THAT I HAVE IN FRONT OF

         18   ME -- I CAN'T DO THAT AT THIS MOMENT.

         19   Q.  I AM JUST LOOKING FOR WHAT YOUR UNDERSTANDING IS OF THE

         20   AGREEMENT, SIR.

         21   A.  OKAY.  JUST A MOMENT, PLEASE.

         22             YES, I THINK THAT HITS THE HIGH POINTS.

         23   Q.  OKAY.  NOW IN YOUR DIRECT TESTIMONY, YOU CHARACTERIZED

         24   THE INTUIT AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER INTERNET CONTENT PROVIDER

         25   AGREEMENTS AS BEING SIMPLY NORMAL CO-PROMOTION AGREEMENTS
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          1   THAT ARE COMMON IN INDUSTRY, CORRECT?

          2   A.  I THINK I CHARACTERIZED, YES, THE PLATINUM AGREEMENTS

          3   OVERALL AS CROSS-MARKETING, CROSS-PROMOTION AND

          4   CROSS-LICENSING AGREEMENTS THAT ARE COMMONPLACE IN VARIOUS

          5   INDUSTRIES, THAT'S CORRECT.

          6   Q.  AND COMMONPLACE IN YOUR INDUSTRY, CORRECT, SIR?

          7   A.  SURE.  UH-HUH.

          8   Q.  NOW, IS IT COMMONPLACE, AS YOU UNDERSTAND IT, IN YOUR

          9   INDUSTRY FOR MICROSOFT TO ENTER INTO AGREEMENTS WITH ONE

         10   ISV -- AND INTUIT IS AN ISV, CORRECT?

         11   A.  NOT COMPLETELY.  THAT IS WHAT MAKES IT COMPLICATED IN

         12   THIS SITUATION.  THEY ARE BOTH AN ISV AND AN ICP, AS YOU

         13   KNOW.

         14   Q.  THEY ARE BOTH?

         15   A.  AND THEY WERE MORE AN ISV WHEN WE STARTED, AND THEY

         16   BECAME MORE OF AN ICP OVER TIME.

         17   Q.  WELL, THEY STILL ARE A VERY MAJOR ISV, ARE THEY NOT,

         18   SIR?

         19   A.  OH, YES, BUT I AM SAYING THAT THE ICP PART OF THEIR

         20   BUSINESS -- JUST TO BE CLEAR, THE CONTENT PART OF THEIR

         21   BUSINESS WAS VERY YOUNG AT THE TIME WE STARTED AND WAS

         22   GROWING.

         23   Q.  BUT THEY WERE THEN AND ARE NOW ONE OF THE LEADING

         24   ISV'S -- INDEPENDENT SOFTWARE VENDORS?

         25   A.  YES, MR. BOIES.  THAT'S CORRECT.
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          1   Q.  AND NETSCAPE IS AN ISV -- A LEADING ISV, CORRECT, SIR?

          2   A.  THEY, I THINK, ARE BOTH AN ISV AND AN ICP IN OUR TERMS

          3   THESE DAYS, YES.

          4   Q.  ARE THERE AGREEMENTS THAT YOU ARE FAMILIAR WITH THAT ARE

          5   COMMON IN YOUR INDUSTRY IN WHICH MICROSOFT AGREES WITH ONE

          6   ISV, THAT THAT ISV WILL NOT PROMOTE OR MARKET ANOTHER ISV'S

          7   PRODUCTS?

          8   A.  I'M TRYING TO GET -- YOU'RE ASKING ME DOES MICROSOFT

          9   HAVE OTHER AGREEMENTS THAT ARE SIMILAR TO THIS ONE?

         10   Q.  WELL, I KNOW THAT YOU'VE GOT A NUMBER OF ICP AGREEMENTS.

         11   YOU SAID YOU HAD.  HOW MANY PLATINUM?

         12   A.  24, I THINK.

         13   Q.  24 ARE PLATINUM AGREEMENTS.  WHAT I'M ASKING YOU IS YOU

         14   TOLD ME OR YOU TOLD THE COURT --

         15   A.  RIGHT.

         16   Q.  -- YOU TOLD EVERYBODY IN YOUR SWORN DIRECT TESTIMONY --

         17   A.  SURE.

         18   Q.  -- THAT THESE PLATINUM AGREEMENTS WERE JUST ORDINARY

         19   COMMON AGREEMENTS, RIGHT?

         20   A.  YES.

         21   Q.  AND SO WHAT I'M TRYING TO DO IS I'M TRYING TO FIND OUT

         22   WHETHER YOU CAN TELL ME SOME OTHER AGREEMENTS --

         23   A.  SURE.

         24   Q.  -- OTHER THAN THESE ICP AGREEMENTS --

         25   A.  SURE.

                                                                              58

          1   Q.  -- IN WHICH MICROSOFT GOES TO A LEADING ISV AND SAYS,

          2   "WE'LL GIVE YOU THINGS OF VALUE, LIKE PLACEMENT ON THE

          3   DESKTOP, IF YOU WILL AGREE NOT TO PROMOTE OR MARKET WITH

          4   ANOTHER ISV"?

          5   A.  GOT YOU.  THANK YOU FOR CLARIFYING THAT.  I'M ACTUALLY

          6   NOT FAMILIAR WITH THE BREADTH OF MICROSOFT'S ISV AGREEMENTS.

          7   AND THAT'S WHY THE INTUIT CASE IS SOMEWHAT COMPLICATED IN

          8   THE SENSE THEY'RE BOTH AN ISV AND AN ICP.

          9             SO TO BE CLEAR ON MY STATEMENT OF THE AGREEMENTS

         10   BEING COMMONPLACE IN THE INDUSTRY, THE THING THAT'S VERY

         11   COMMON IS AGREEMENTS FOR CONTENT PROMOTION AND DISTRIBUTION,

         12   MARKETING, BRAND ASSOCIATION.  THOSE ARE EXTREMELY COMMON.

         13             FOR EXAMPLE, AOL, I BELIEVE, IN THE LAST TWO YEARS

         14   HAS ENTERED INTO SOMETHING OVER 40 AGREEMENTS THAT WERE

         15   LABELED AS, QUOTE, "EXCLUSIVE" IN ONE FORM OR ANOTHER.

         16             IN THE ONLINE SERVICES INDUSTRY, IF YOU LOOKED AT

         17   AOL, COMPUSERVE AND MSN, VIRTUALLY ALL THE CONTENT THAT THEY

         18   CARRIED PRIOR TO -- IN THE LAST COUPLE OF YEARS HAS BEEN

         19   CARRIED ON AN EXCLUSIVE BASIS.

         20             I COULD GO ON, AS YOU, I'M SURE, KNOW.  THAT'S

         21   REALLY WHAT I'M REFERRING TO.  I'M NOT FAMILIAR WITH THE

         22   BREADTH OF ISV AGREEMENTS.

         23   Q.  I THINK YOU MAY HAVE IMPLICITLY ANSWERED MY QUESTION,

         24   BUT I WANT TO BE SURE THAT THE RECORD IS CLEAR.  ARE YOU

         25   AWARE OF ANY CONTRACTS, OTHER THAN THESE PLATINUM
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          1   AGREEMENTS, IN WHICH MICROSOFT AGREES WITH ONE INDEPENDENT

          2   SOFTWARE VENDOR THAT MICROSOFT WILL GIVE THAT INDEPENDENT

          3   SOFTWARE VENDOR THINGS OF SUBSTANTIAL VALUE, LIKE PLACEMENT

          4   ON THE DESKTOP, IN RETURN FOR THAT ISV'S AGREEMENT NOT TO

          5   PROMOTE OR MARKET THE PRODUCTS OF ANOTHER ISV?

          6   A.  I'M NOT AWARE OF ANY ON THAT SPECIFIC DEFINITION YOU

          7   HAVE PROVIDED ME, NO.

          8   Q.  OKAY.  NOW, ARE YOU AWARE OF ANY AGREEMENTS WITH

          9   INTERNET CONTENT PROVIDERS AND MICROSOFT WHERE MICROSOFT

         10   OFFERS THE INTERNET CONTENT PROVIDER THINGS OF SUBSTANTIAL

         11   VALUE, LIKE PLACEMENT ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP, IN RETURN FOR

         12   THAT ICP'S AGREEMENT NOT TO MARKET OR PROMOTE THE PRODUCTS

         13   OF AN INDEPENDENT SOFTWARE VENDOR THAT COMPETES WITH

         14   MICROSOFT?

         15   A.  I'M CERTAINLY AWARE THAT MICROSOFT HAS SUCH ADVERTISING

         16   AND PROMOTIONAL AGREEMENTS.  I THINK THE STATEMENT IN MY

         17   TESTIMONY, THOUGH, TO BE CLEAR, IS IN THE INDUSTRY, NOT JUST

         18   AT MICROSOFT, AND THAT AGREEMENTS ARE COMMONPLACE AMONG COKE

         19   AND MCDONALD'S, OR DISNEY AND MCDONALD'S, OR AOL AND CONTENT

         20   PROVIDERS.  THROUGHOUT THE INDUSTRY, PEOPLE USE PREFERENTIAL

         21   MARKETING PROMOTION DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENTS TO ACCOMPLISH

         22   BUSINESS OBJECTIVES OF BOTH PARTIES.

         23   Q.  JUST SO IT'S CLEAR, SIR, I AM NOT TALKING ABOUT THE COKE

         24   OR THE BURGER KING INDUSTRY.

         25   A.  NO, SIR.  YOU WERE TALKING ABOUT MY TESTIMONY.  I WAS
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          1   TRYING TO CORRECTLY CHARACTERIZE MY TESTIMONY.  THAT'S ALL.

          2   Q.  SO WHAT YOU WERE SAYING IN YOUR TESTIMONY WERE THAT

          3   THESE AGREEMENTS WERE COMMON TO THE HAMBURGER AND THE SOFT

          4   DRINK INDUSTRIES?

          5   A.  AND TO THE CONTENT INDUSTRY, TO THE PUBLISHING INDUSTRY,

          6   TO THE ONLINE SERVICE INDUSTRY, TO THE -- YOU NAME IT.

          7   Q.  HOW ABOUT THE INDUSTRY THAT BRINGS US HERE TODAY, WHICH

          8   IS THE SOFTWARE INDUSTRY?  HOW ABOUT MICROSOFT --

          9   A.  OKAY.

         10   Q.  -- WHICH IS THE COMPANY THAT BRINGS US HERE TODAY?  ARE

         11   THESE AGREEMENTS COMMON IN THAT INDUSTRY, SIR?  ARE THERE

         12   AGREEMENTS WHERE MICROSOFT OR ANOTHER OPERATING SYSTEM

         13   SUPPLIER SAYS TO AN INDEPENDENT SOFTWARE VENDOR, "WE WILL

         14   GIVE THINGS OF GREAT VALUE TO YOU IF YOU WILL AGREE NOT TO

         15   MARKET OR PROMOTE THE PRODUCTS OF ANOTHER INDEPENDENT

         16   SOFTWARE VENDOR"?

         17   A.  I'M SORRY.  AGAIN, I CAN'T SPEAK -- I DON'T HAVE

         18   EXPERTISE IN THE REALM OF ISV AGREEMENTS.  I'M TALKING ABOUT

         19   ICP AGREEMENTS.  AND, YES, I'LL GIVE YOU AN EXAMPLE OF

         20   REAL NETWORKS.  REAL NETWORKS HAS DEALS THAT PRECLUDE THEIR

         21   CONTENT PARTNERS FROM USING TECHNOLOGY FROM MICROSOFT OR

         22   FROM OFFERING TECHNOLOGY OR OFFERING THEIR CONTENT IN A FORM

         23   THAT CAN BE VIEWED USING MICROSOFT TECHNOLOGIES.  THAT WOULD

         24   BE AN EXAMPLE.

         25             NETSCAPE AND AOL HAVE AGREEMENTS AROUND INSTANT
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          1   MESSAGING THAT ARE SIMILAR.

          2   Q.  OKAY.  LET'S TAKE THOSE IN ORDER.

          3   A.  OKAY.

          4   Q.  NETSCAPE.  DOES NETSCAPE SAY THAT WE'RE GOING TO DO

          5   THINGS OF VALUE FOR YOU -- WHO IS THE AGREEMENT WITH

          6   NETSCAPE WITH?

          7   A.  THE ONE I'M REFERRING TO WOULD BE THE -- NETSCAPE HAS AN

          8   AGREEMENT WITH AOL FOR THE INSTANT MESSENGER TECHNOLOGY.

          9   THEY HAVE AGREEMENTS WITH REAL NETWORKS FOR THE REAL PLAYER.

         10   Q.  NOW, IN THOSE AGREEMENTS, DOES NETSCAPE SAY TO AOL, "WE

         11   WILL DO THINGS OF GREAT VALUE OR SIGNIFICANT VALUE TO YOU,

         12   AOL, IF YOU AGREE NOT TO PROMOTE OR MARKET MICROSOFT'S

         13   PRODUCTS"?

         14   A.  I HAVEN'T READ THOSE AGREEMENTS.  I'M JUST TELLING YOU

         15   THAT THE ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN THOSE COMPANIES APPEARS TO BE

         16   VERY PREFERENTIAL.  WITHOUT READING THE AGREEMENTS, I CANNOT

         17   ATTEST TO WHAT IS IN THE AGREEMENT.

         18   Q.  YOU HAVEN'T READ THOSE AGREEMENTS?

         19   A.  HOW WOULD I READ THOSE AGREEMENTS?

         20   Q.  WELL, HAVE YOU TALKED TO PEOPLE ABOUT THE SUBSTANCE OF

         21   THE AGREEMENTS?  YOU'RE TESTIFYING AS TO WHAT THE AGREEMENTS

         22   SAY.  WHAT'S THE BASIS OF YOUR TESTIMONY FOR WHAT THE

         23   AGREEMENTS SAY?

         24   A.  THE BASIS OF MY TESTIMONY IS THAT -- KNOWLEDGE WITHIN

         25   THE INDUSTRY OF PREFERENTIAL MARKETING AND PROMOTION
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          1   AGREEMENTS AMONG MANY DIFFERENT TYPES OF PARTIES.  AND THOSE

          2   MAY BE SOFTWARE COMPANIES, HARDWARE COMPANIES, CONTENT

          3   COMPANIES, SOFT DRINK MANUFACTURERS, RESTAURANT CHAINS, AND

          4   MOVIE STUDIOS.  THAT'S REALLY THE BASIS OF MY TESTIMONY.

          5             YOU'RE ASKING ME DO I HAVE SPECIFIC KNOWLEDGE OF

          6   AN AGREEMENT -- OF THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN

          7   NETSCAPE AND AMERICA ONLINE.  I DO NOT.

          8   Q.  OR AT LEAST ENOUGH KNOWLEDGE ABOUT THAT AGREEMENT TO

          9   KNOW WHETHER NETSCAPE IS PAYING AOL NOT TO WORK WITH

         10   MICROSOFT.  DO YOU KNOW AT LEAST ENOUGH ABOUT THE AGREEMENT

         11   TO KNOW WHETHER THAT'S HAPPENING?

         12   A.  NO, MR. BOIES, I DO NOT KNOW THE DETAILS OF THAT

         13   AGREEMENT.  I'M JUST TELLING YOU IT'S ONE THAT'S CLEARLY

         14   PREFERENTIAL.  THAT'S ALL I CAN SEE.

         15   Q.  WHEN YOU SAY YOU DON'T KNOW THE DETAILS, DO YOU KNOW

         16   ENOUGH ABOUT THE AGREEMENT TO KNOW WHETHER NETSCAPE IS

         17   PAYING AOL TO RESTRICT ITS DEALINGS WITH MICROSOFT?

         18   A.  NO, MR. BOIES, I DO NOT.

         19   Q.  OKAY.  DO YOU SEE A DISTINCTION -- SINCE YOU'RE

         20   CLASSIFYING THESE AGREEMENTS AS MARKETING AGREEMENTS AND

         21   CO-PROMOTIONAL AGREEMENTS -- TO AGREEMENTS WHEN TWO

         22   COMPANIES GET TOGETHER TO MARKET OR PROMOTE PARTICULAR

         23   PRODUCTS AND AGREEMENTS WHERE ONE COMPANY SAYS, "WE ARE

         24   GOING TO CONDITION ACCESS TO SOMETHING THAT WE UNIQUELY

         25   CONTROL OVER YOUR AGREEMENT TO ENTER INTO PREFERENTIAL
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          1   AGREEMENTS WITH US"?  DO YOU SEE A DISTINCTION BETWEEN THOSE

          2   KINDS OF AGREEMENTS, SIR?

          3   A.  I'M NOT SURE I GET YOUR QUESTION.

          4   Q.  OKAY.  I WILL MAKE IT CLEARER IF YOU DON'T UNDERSTAND

          5   IT.

          6   A.  I APPRECIATE IT.

          7   Q.  MICROSOFT CONTROLS THE WINDOWS DESKTOP, RIGHT?

          8   A.  NO, SIR.

          9   Q.  IT DOES NOT?

         10   A.  I BELIEVE THAT IT'S -- WE MANUFACTURE A PIECE OF

         11   SOFTWARE THAT INCLUDES A WINDOWS DESKTOP, BUT IF YOU LOOK AT

         12   THE OEM DISTRIBUTION CHANNEL, THEY, IN FACT, CONTROL MORE OF

         13   THE REAL ESTATE ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP THAN MICROSOFT DOES.

         14   Q.  DID YOU, SIR, AND OTHERS WORKING WITH YOU, TELL INTERNET

         15   CONTENT PROVIDERS THAT ONE OF THE ADVANTAGES OF DOING A DEAL

         16   WITH MICROSOFT IS THAT THEY COULD THEN BE GUARANTEED THEY

         17   WOULD BE ON ALL OF THE WINDOWS DESKTOPS?

         18   A.  I CERTAINLY SAID I CAN MAKE IT EASIER, YES.  ABSOLUTELY.

         19   IT'S EASIER FOR A COMPANY TO DO ONE DEAL WITH ME, I HOPE,

         20   THAN TO GO OUT TO FIVE OEM'S.  ON THE OTHER HAND, TO BE

         21   CLEAR, THE PARTIES WE'RE TALKING ABOUT HERE ARE VERY

         22   SOPHISTICATED COMPANIES.  AND IF THEY WISHED TO GO AND DO A

         23   DEAL WITH COMPAQ, IBM, ACER -- PICK TOP FIVE CONSUMER

         24   OEM'S -- IT WOULD BE WELL WITHIN THEIR MEANS TO DO IT.

         25             SO I OFFER THEM A CONVENIENCE; THAT WAS A GOOD
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          1   THING.  IT HAS VALUE.  IT HAD VALUE FOR ME IN GETTING THEIR

          2   COMMITMENT TO OUR PLATFORM TO MAKE USE OF THESE

          3   TECHNOLOGIES.  THAT'S A WAY TO HELP ME ESTABLISH THE VALUE

          4   OF THE TECHNOLOGY WITH END USERS.

          5   Q.  LET ME TRY TO PUT THE QUESTION AS CLEARLY AS I CAN.  DID

          6   YOU TELL ICP'S -- DID YOU, MR. POOLE, PERSONALLY TELL ICP'S

          7   THAT THIS WAS THE WAY THAT THEY COULD ASSURE THEMSELVES THAT

          8   THEY WOULD BE ON EVERY WINDOWS DESKTOP?

          9   A.  I PERSONALLY WOULD HAVE TOLD THEM THAT WITHIN THE BOUNDS

         10   OF OUR ABILITY TO OFFER THEIR CONTENT THROUGH OUR VARIOUS

         11   CHANNELS OF DISTRIBUTION, THAT WE WOULD HELP THEM GET

         12   EXPOSURE TO THEIR CONTENT THROUGH OUR PRODUCT OF WINDOWS.

         13             DID I SAY THE EXACT WORDS YOU'VE SAID?  I DON'T

         14   KNOW.  BUT I CERTAINLY WOULD HAVE REPRESENTED THAT THIS IS A

         15   VALUE TO THEM.  IT'S A MARKETING VALUE.  IT'S EASIER FOR

         16   THEM TO WORK WITH ME THAN TO WORK WITH FIVE OEM'S AND FIVE

         17   ISP'S.

         18   Q.  WHAT I AM TRYING TO FIND OUT FROM YOU, SIR, IS WHETHER

         19   YOU TOLD THEM, IN WORDS OR IN SUBSTANCE -- I'M NOT ASKING

         20   YOU WHETHER YOU TOLD THEM THE EXACT WORDS, BUT, IN WORDS OR

         21   IN SUBSTANCE, DID YOU TELL THEM THAT THIS WAS THE WAY THAT

         22   THEY COULD ASSURE THEMSELVES THAT THEY WOULD BE ON -- AT

         23   LEAST WITH RESPECT TO WINDOWS 95, WHICH WAS THE SYSTEM THAT

         24   WAS THEN UNDER CONSIDERATION -- EVERY WINDOWS DESKTOP?

         25   A.  I WOULD TELL THEM IT WOULD BE "A WAY."  YOU SAY "THE
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          1   WAY."  IT IMPLIES THAT IT'S UNIQUE AND UNMATCHED.  BUT IT IS

          2   CERTAINLY A WAY, ABSOLUTELY

          3   Q.  AND DID YOU TELL THEM -- SPEAKING ABOUT UNIQUE WAYS, DID

          4   YOU TELL THEM THAT IT WAS A UNIQUE WAY -- AN UNMATCHED WAY?

          5   DID YOU TELL THEM THAT, SIR?

          6   A.  I HAVE BEEN A SALESMAN AT TIMES, SO I MAY HAVE USED

          7   THOSE WORDS, BUT IT CLEARLY IS NOT UNIQUE.

          8   Q.  BUT YOU DID TELL PEOPLE THAT, DIDN'T YOU, SIR?

          9   A.  I DON'T KNOW, BUT I -- SINCE YOU'RE ASKING ME, I ASSUME

         10   YOU MUST HAVE SOMEBODY WHO SAID I DID, SO --

         11   Q.  LET ME SEE IF I CAN GET YOU TO REMEMBER SOME ACTUAL

         12   WORDS.

         13   A.  SURE.

         14   Q.  DID YOU AND OTHERS AT MICROSOFT TELL PEOPLE THAT THE

         15   ABILITY TO BE LISTED ON THE ACTIVE DESKTOP WAS A CROWN

         16   JEWEL?  I AM TRYING TO PICK A PHRASE THAT'S COLORFUL ENOUGH

         17   THAT IT SHOULD STICK IN YOUR MIND.

         18   A.  I THINK THAT THOSE TERMS CAME FROM SOMEBODY ON MY TEAM

         19   RELATIVE TO THE SOURCE CODE OF WINDOWS, WHICH MICROSOFT HAD

         20   TRADITIONALLY -- CERTAINLY PEOPLE AT MICROSOFT WOULD AGREE

         21   THAT OUR SOURCE CODE WOULD BE PART OF OUR CROWN JEWELS.

         22   Q.  JUST SO THAT WE'RE CLEAR, THE REPRESENTATION ABOUT THE

         23   CROWN JEWEL CAME IN THE CONTEXT OF NEGOTIATING THESE ICP

         24   AGREEMENTS, CORRECT?

         25   A.  I BELIEVE IT CAME SPECIFICALLY IN THE CONTEXT OF A
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          1   DISCUSSION WITH DISNEY, WHO WAS, AGAIN, ONE OF THE HYBRID

          2   DEALS, IF I CAN, THAT REFERS TO A DEAL THAT HAD BOTH A VERY

          3   COMPLEX TECHNOLOGY LICENSE, INCLUDING SOURCE CODE RIGHTS,

          4   AND A PROMOTION ON THE ACTIVE DESKTOP, MARKETING ON THEIR

          5   SIDE, AND A LOT OF DIFFERENT THINGS.

          6             SO DISNEY IS ONE OF THE DIFFERENT DEALS.  AND IF

          7   YOU LOOK AT THE WORLD OF ALL OF OUR DEALS, A COUPLE OF THEM

          8   WERE VERY CUSTOM, VERY INDIVIDUALLY NEGOTIATED.  MANY OF

          9   THEY WERE COOKIE-CUTTER.

         10   Q.  LET ME TRY TO GO BACK TO WHAT I WAS ASKING YOU ABOUT.

         11   YOU SAY THAT ALTHOUGH YOU MAY HAVE TOLD CUSTOMERS IT WAS

         12   UNIQUE, YOU DON'T THINK IT'S UNIQUE.  WOULD YOU AT LEAST

         13   AGREE THAT IT'S AN IMPORTANT ADVANTAGE?

         14   A.  CERTAINLY.

         15   Q.  OKAY.  MICROSOFT WAS OFFERING ICP'S AN IMPORTANT

         16   ADVANTAGE IN TERMS OF PLACEMENT ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP,

         17   CORRECT?

         18   A.  YES.

         19   Q.  AND YOU WERE OFFERING THEM THIS ADVANTAGE WITH RESPECT

         20   TO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP IF THEY WOULD DO SOMETHING FOR YOU

         21   WITH RESPECT TO BROWSERS, CORRECT, AT LEAST IN PART?

         22   A.  IN PART.  THAT IS CORRECT.

         23   Q.  AN IMPORTANT PART, CORRECT?

         24   A.  THERE WERE MANY PARTS.  I WON'T TRY TO RANK ORDER THEM,

         25   BUT, YES, ABSOLUTELY, IT WAS AN IMPORTANT PART.
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          1   Q.  OKAY.  BECAUSE IT WAS CLEAR THAT PART OF WHAT YOU WERE

          2   TRYING TO DO WITH THESE ICP AGREEMENTS WAS TO INCREASE

          3   MICROSOFT'S BROWSER USAGE SHARE, CORRECT?

          4   A.  THAT WAS ONE OF OUR OBJECTIVES, YES.  AND IF I COULD BE

          5   CLEAR ON THAT, JUST SO YOU UNDERSTAND, IN ORDER FOR US TO

          6   INCREASE USAGE OF INTERNET EXPLORER 4, WHERE WE HAD

          7   INNOVATIVE NEW TECHNOLOGIES, WE HAD TO HAVE PEOPLE WHO USED

          8   THOSE TECHNOLOGIES.

          9             SO IF I'VE GOT A NEAT NEW THING CALLED ACTIVE

         10   CHANNELS, BUT NO CONTENT IS AVAILABLE ON THE ACTIVE CHANNEL,

         11   THEN A USER IS NOT GOING TO SEE THE VALUE OF THAT

         12   TECHNOLOGY.  MORE USERS ARE NOT LIKELY TO SEE THAT AS A

         13   COMPETITIVE FEATURE.

         14             SO THAT IS THE PROCESS BY WHICH HAVING CONTENT

         15   PROVIDERS MAKE USE OF THIS NEW TECHNOLOGY AND ASSOCIATE THE

         16   THEIR BRAND WITH OUR BRAND, IT WOULD HELP US INCREASE USAGE

         17   OF OUR PRODUCT OVER TIME.

         18   Q.  WELL, OTHER THAN BEING PROUD OF YOUR INNOVATIVE

         19   TECHNOLOGY, AS YOU DESCRIBE IT, INCREASING INTERNET

         20   EXPLORER'S BROWSER SHARE WAS A PRIORITY OR GOAL THAT YOU

         21   HAD, CORRECT, IN CONNECTION WITH THESE ICP AGREEMENTS?

         22   A.  BROWSER USE SHARE?  IT WAS A GOAL.  I THINK IT WAS NOT

         23   ONE THAT WE EITHER ATTAINED OR WOULD HAVE SAID WAS THE

         24   SINGULAR GOAL, BUT IT WAS CERTAINLY ONE OF THEM.

         25   Q.  WOULD YOU AGREE THAT IT WAS A PRIORITY FOR YOU?
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          1   A.  SURE.

          2   Q.  OKAY.  IN THESE AGREEMENTS WITH ICP'S, YOU REQUIRED,

          3   AMONG OTHER THINGS, THAT THEY DISTRIBUTE MICROSOFT'S

          4   BROWSER, CORRECT?

          5   A.  YES, I BELIEVE THAT WAS A STANDARD TERM OF THE TEMPLATE

          6   AGREEMENT.  YES.  I DON'T KNOW THAT EVERY ONE HAD IT, BUT IT

          7   WAS A GENERAL TERM.

          8   Q.  IN ADDITION TO THAT, YOU REQUIRE THAT THE ICP'S NOT

          9   ENTER INTO MARKETING AND PROMOTION AGREEMENTS WITH NETSCAPE,

         10   CORRECT?

         11   A.  REFERENCING NETSCAPE AS THE NUMBER ONE OTHER BROWSER,

         12   AND, YOU KNOW, THE CONVOLUTED LANGUAGE OVERALL.  SO, YES.

         13   Q.  AND JUST SO THAT THE RECORD IS CLEAR ABOUT THE

         14   CONVOLUTED LANGUAGE, IN THESE AGREEMENTS, YOU DIDN'T SAY,

         15   "YOU CAN'T DEAL WITH NETSCAPE DIRECTLY."  WHAT YOU SAID IS,

         16   "YOU CANNOT DEAL -- WITH MARKETING AND PROMOTION

         17   AGREEMENTS -- WITH A MANUFACTURER OF AN OTHER BROWSER,"

         18   RIGHT?

         19   A.  WHERE "OTHER BROWSER" IS A DEFINED TERM.

         20   Q.  YES.

         21   A.  AND LET'S JUST BE CLEAR ON THE "DEAL" WORD.  OKAY.

         22   AGAIN, WE SAID, "YOU CAN'T ENTER INTO A MARKETING OR

         23   PROMOTION AGREEMENT" -- WHICH IS ALSO A FAIRLY COMPLEX

         24   DEFINED TERM IN MOST OF THESE AGREEMENTS, BUT NOT ALL --

         25   "WITH A MANUFACTURER OF ANOTHER BROWSER, WHICH WOULD
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          1   ENCOMPASS THE TOP TWO."

          2             AND WE'VE ESTABLISHED THAT NETSCAPE WAS CLEARLY

          3   THE TOP ONE, AND OTHERS MAY HAVE COME AND GONE AS THE

          4   NUMBER-TWO SPOT OVER TIME.

          5   Q.  AND WOULD YOU AGREE THAT ALTHOUGH IT'S FRAMED IN TERMS

          6   OF, QUOTE, "OTHER BROWSER," WHICH IS, AS YOU SAY, A DEFINED

          7   TERM -- WOULD YOU AGREE THAT THE PRIMARY TARGET OF THAT

          8   PROVISION WAS NETSCAPE?  THERE WASN'T ANY OBSCURITY THAT

          9   NETSCAPE WAS WHO YOU WERE TALKING ABOUT, WAS THERE?

         10   A.  YES, MR. BOIES, I WOULD AGREE THAT NETSCAPE WAS THE

         11   PRIMARY TARGET, BUT I WANT TO BE CLEAR THAT THIS INDUSTRY

         12   MOVES FAST.  AND THE REASON I REFERENCE OPERA, FOR EXAMPLE,

         13   IN MY TESTIMONY IS IT WAS AN UNKNOWN ENTITY AT THE TIME, AND

         14   IT'S NOW COME FORWARD AS BEING SMALLER, FASTER AND EASIER TO

         15   USE THAN ANY OTHER BROWSER AVAILABLE.  SUN'S HOT JAVA HAD

         16   GREAT PROMISE AT THE TIME.

         17             SO NETSCAPE WAS UNQUESTIONABLY OUR NUMBER-ONE

         18   COMPETITOR IN THIS AREA.

         19   Q.  AND NETSCAPE IS YOUR NUMBER-ONE COMPETITOR IN THIS AREA

         20   TODAY, CORRECT, SIR?

         21   A.  NO, I THINK AOL.

         22   Q.  AOL IS YOUR NUMBER-ONE COMPETITOR IN THE BROWSER AREA,

         23   SIR?

         24   A.  GIVEN THAT THEY WILL OWN NETSCAPE.

         25   Q.  WELL, BECAUSE THEY OWN NETSCAPE.
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          1   A.  CORRECT, AND BECAUSE --

          2   Q.  IF THEY BECOME -- IF THEY ACTUALLY END UP OWNING

          3   NETSCAPE, WHICH THEY DON'T QUITE YET, YOU UNDERSTAND.

          4   A.  I ASSUME IT'S A DONE DEAL.

          5   Q.  BUT EITHER NETSCAPE -- EITHER BY ITSELF OR OWNED BY AOL

          6   IS YOUR NUMBER-ONE COMPETITOR IN THE BROWSER AREA, RIGHT?

          7   A.  YES.

          8   Q.  OKAY.  AND OPERA -- WHEN DID OPERA FIRST BEGIN TO BE

          9   MARKETED?

         10   A.  I DON'T KNOW EXACTLY.  ABOUT A YEAR AGO.

         11   Q.  ABOUT A YEAR AGO?

         12   A.  SOMETHING LIKE THAT.

         13   Q.  WHAT'S OPERA'S MARKET SHARE NOW, SIR?

         14   A.  I DON'T KNOW WHAT THEIR MARKET SHARE IS.  I THINK THEIR

         15   USAGE WOULD BE MINIMAL SO FAR.  SO IT HAS NOT PROVEN TO BE A

         16   SIGNIFICANT THREAT.

         17   Q.  OKAY.

         18   A.  WE PROBABLY WORRIED MORE ABOUT AN APPLE, OR IBM, OR SUN

         19   ENTRY AT THE TIME.

         20   Q.  INCIDENTLY, YOU DEFINE "OTHER BROWSERS" IN TERMS OF

         21   MARKET SHARE ACCORDING TO SOMETHING CALLED "BROWSERWATCH,"

         22   CORRECT?

         23   A.  I THINK IT'S JUST DEFINED AS THE "TOP TWO."  I DON'T

         24   KNOW IF THE WORDS "MARKET SHARE" ARE IN THERE.  BUT THE TOP

         25   TWO ON BROWSERWATCH.  BUT WHATEVER THE SPECIFIC IS.
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          1   Q.  I'M SORRY.  I DIDN'T UNDERSTAND WHAT YOU JUST SAID.

          2   A.  YOU SAID SOMETHING I'M NOT SURE IS EXACTLY WHAT THE

          3   DEFINITION OF "OTHER BROWSER" IS.  IT'S A VERY PRECISE

          4   DEFINITION IN THE CONTRACT.

          5   Q.  WELL, IN TERMS OF YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF WHAT "OTHER

          6   BROWSER" IS, IT MEANS A BROWSER THAT HAS ONE OF THE TWO

          7   HIGHEST SHARES AS MEASURED BY BROWSER WATCH, RIGHT?

          8   A.  I DON'T SEE THE WORD "SHARE" IN THE AGREEMENT I'M

          9   LOOKING AT, BUT THERE MAY BE SOME THAT DOES.  IT SAYS, "THE

         10   TOP TWO (EXCLUSIVE OF INTERNET EXPLORER) MOST WIDELY USED

         11   BROWSERS AS SUCH USE IS MEASURED BY THE AVERAGE OF

         12   BROWSERWATCH OR A REASONABLE AND NEUTRAL SUCCESSOR SITE,"

         13   BLAH, BLAH, BLAH.

         14   Q.  DOES BROWSERWATCH MEASURE BROWSER-USAGE SHARE, SIR?

         15   A.  USE SHARE, YES.

         16   Q.  YES.  IN OTHER WORDS, IF YOU GO TO BROWSERWATCH, YOU

         17   WILL FIND WHAT MICROSOFT'S USAGE SHARE IS, AND WHAT

         18   NETSCAPE'S USAGE SHARE IS, AND WHAT OTHER COMPANIES' USAGE

         19   SHARE IS, RIGHT?

         20   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

         21   Q.  OKAY.  AND YOU SELECTED BROWSER WATCHES -- BROWSER USAGE

         22   SHARES AS AN INDICATOR OF WHAT THE TOP BROWSERS WERE, RIGHT?

         23   A.  IT WAS THE BEST AVAILABLE AT THE TIME, THAT'S CORRECT.

         24   Q.  THE BEST AVAILABLE MEASUREMENT OF BROWSER USAGE SHARE,

         25   CORRECT?
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          1   A.  YES.  IT WAS SORT OF A PUBLIC MEASUREMENT THAT ANYBODY

          2   COULD POINT TO AND LOOK AT.  WE HAD OUR INTERNAL RESEARCH,

          3   BUT THAT WAS THE ONE THAT WAS PUBLIC.

          4   Q.  AND WAS YOUR INTERNAL USAGE-SHARE NUMBERS CONSISTENT

          5   WITH THE BROWSERWATCH USAGE-SHARE NUMBERS?

          6   A.  I DON'T KNOW.

          7   Q.  DID YOU EVER CHECK?

          8   A.  I THINK THE TOP TWO THAT WERE REFERENCED ON BOTH SIDES

          9   WERE CONSISTENT.

         10   Q.  YES.

         11   A.  BEYOND THAT, I COULDN'T TELL YOU.

         12   Q.  WHAT I'M SAYING IS YOU NEVER CHECKED.  I MEAN, YOU JUST

         13   KNOW WHAT THE TOP TWO WOULD BE BECAUSE YOU KNOW NETSCAPE IS

         14   GOING TO BE ONE OF THE TOP TWO WITH IE, NO MATTER HOW YOU

         15   MEASURE IT?

         16   A.  YOU SAY I NEVER CHECKED.

         17   Q.  I'M ASKING YOU.

         18   A.  IN THE SIX MONTHS THAT THESE AGREEMENTS WERE OPERATIVE,

         19   FROM OUR PERSPECTIVE, THERE WERE NO OTHER CREDIBLE THREATS

         20   THAT CAME ALONG.  SO IT WASN'T AN IMPORTANT THING FOR US TO

         21   CHECK, NO.

         22   Q.  NOW, WHEN YOU SAY THE SIX MONTHS -- YOU STARTED

         23   NEGOTIATING THESE IN THE FALL OF 1996, CORRECT?

         24   A.  NEGOTIATED ONE IN THE FALL OF 1996.

         25   Q.  POINTCAST?
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          1   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.

          2   Q.  AND POINTCAST REFERS TO BROWSER SHARE UNDER

          3   BROWSERWATCH, CORRECT?

          4   A.  YES.

          5   Q.  AND YOU CONTINUED TO USE THIS IN 1996 AND 1997, CORRECT,

          6   SIR?

          7   A.  THROUGH 1997.  MOST OF THE AGREEMENTS WERE SIGNED IN THE

          8   FIRST HALF OF 1997.  WHEN I SAID "SIX MONTHS," I WAS

          9   REFERRING TO THE TIME IN WHICH THE AGREEMENTS WERE IN

         10   EFFECT, FROM THE TIME WE SHIPPED IE 4, WHICH WAS SEPTEMBER

         11   30TH OF 1997, UNTIL WE WAIVED THE AGREEMENTS, WHICH WAS, I

         12   BELIEVE, IN APRIL OF 1998.  SO THAT WAS APPROXIMATELY SIX

         13   MONTHS IN WHICH THEY HAD SIGNIFICANT EFFECT.

         14   Q.  AND WHY DID YOU WAIVE THOSE AGREEMENTS, SIR?

         15   A.  WE, AT THE TIME, HAD RECOGNIZED A COUPLE OF THINGS.

         16   FIRST WAS THAT THE OVERALL AREA OF PUSH TECHNOLOGY HAD NOT

         17   BEEN PARTICULARLY WELL-RECEIVED BY CUSTOMERS.  AND THIS WAS

         18   A DISAPPOINTMENT FOR REALLY ALL OF US INVOLVED.  AND I WON'T

         19   GO INTO DETAIL THERE, BUT THAT WAS ONE FACTOR.

         20             THE SECOND FACTOR IS THAT IT REALLY HADN'T BEEN,

         21   THEREFORE, DOING A LOT FOR US OR FOR THE CONTENT PROVIDERS

         22   IN TERMS OF, YOU KNOW, PROMOTION.  IT JUST DIDN'T OFFER MUCH

         23   VALUE.  SO THE BUSINESS VALUE OF THE AGREEMENTS WAS NOT

         24   SIGNIFICANT.

         25             AND THEN WHEN WE CAME ACROSS THE SORT OF REPEATED
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          1   ATTACKS FROM OUR COMPETITORS AND OTHERS ABOUT THE NATURE OF

          2   OUR BUSINESS DEALS, WE SAW THAT AS A DISTRACTION TO THE

          3   OVERALL SITUATION -- THAT WE WERE ENGAGING IN SOME AMOUNT OF

          4   PUBLIC DISCOURSE ABOUT OUR SORT OF ABILITY TO INNOVATE IN

          5   THE TECHNOLOGY PLATFORM.

          6             SO THE LOGICAL CONCLUSION WAS, "LOOK, LET'S JUST

          7   SIMPLIFY THINGS HERE.  THE DEALS AREN'T DOING A WHOLE LOT

          8   FOR ANYBODY, AND THEY ARE A DISTRACTION FROM THE MORE

          9   IMPORTANT DISCUSSION."  SO WE WAIVED THEM.

         10   Q.  AND IS IT FAIR TO SAY -- YOU GAVE THREE REASONS.  AND IS

         11   IT FAIR TO SAY THAT, IN GENERAL, YOU LISTED THE MOST

         12   IMPORTANT REASONS FIRST?

         13   A.  I'M NOT SURE I WOULD WEIGH THOSE THREE THAT WAY.

         14   Q.  HOW WOULD YOU WEIGH THEM, SIR?

         15   A.  WELL, LET'S PUT IT THIS WAY.  IF THERE HADN'T BEEN ANY

         16   PUBLIC -- IF OUR COMPETITORS HADN'T BEEN GOING AFTER US AND

         17   SAYING THESE AGREEMENTS WERE BAD IN SOME WAY -- WHICH WE

         18   FRANKLY DIDN'T AGREE WITH THEN AND DON'T AGREE NOW -- BUT IF

         19   THEY HADN'T BEEN AND IF THE DEALS HAD BEEN MARGINALLY

         20   SUCCESSFUL, WE WOULD HAVE CONTINUED ALONG.

         21   Q.  SO YOU WOULD HAVE CONTINUED ALONG WITH THEM IF THEY HAD

         22   NOT BEEN CHALLENGED?

         23   A.  SURE.  SO WHAT I'M SAYING IS WE HAD TO CONSIDER ALL OF

         24   THOSE FACTORS TOGETHER IN MAKING OUR DECISION.

         25   Q.  AND I THINK YOU SAY YOU WAIVED THEM ONLY SIX MONTHS
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          1   AFTER THIS IE 4 PUSH TECHNOLOGY HAD ACTUALLY BEEN SHIPPED,

          2   CORRECT?

          3   A.  THAT'S CORRECT.  THAT WAS APPROXIMATELY HALFWAY INTO

          4   THEIR EFFECTIVE LIFE, WHICH WAS 12 MONTHS.

          5   Q.  NOW, GOING BACK TO BROWSERWATCH, YOU WERE ACTUALLY

          6   DEALING WITH BROWSERWATCH FOR QUITE A PERIOD OF TIME, FROM

          7   THE FALL OF 1996 UNTIL THE AGREEMENTS WERE WAIVED IN 1998,

          8   CORRECT?

          9   A.  HOW DO YOU MEAN "DEALING WITH"?

         10   Q.  YOU WERE USING BROWSER WATCH AS AN INDICATOR OF BROWSER

         11   USAGE SHARE?

         12   A.  I POINTED TO THEM IN THIS CONTRACT.  I WOULDN'T SAY THAT

         13   YOU, MICROSOFT, OR EVEN YOU, WILL POOLE, WAS DEALING WITH

         14   THEM OR USING IT AS A STANDARD FOR BROWSER MARKET SHARE OR

         15   BROWSER USAGE SHARE.

         16   Q.  WELL, YOU WERE USING IT AS A STANDARD IN THESE

         17   CONTRACTS, WERE YOU NOT, SIR?

         18   A.  BECAUSE IT WAS THE ONLY THING I KNEW OF THAT I COULD

         19   POINT TO AS AN INDEPENDENT SITE.  THE DATA IS ACTUALLY NOT

         20   PARTICULARLY GOOD BECAUSE IT'S -- WELL, I DON'T KNOW IF YOU

         21   CARE.  THAT'S THE ONLY DATA AVAILABLE PUBLICLY.

         22   Q.  IT WAS THE ONLY DATA -- IT WAS THE BEST AVAILABLE DATA

         23   THAT YOU WERE FAMILIAR WITH?

         24   A.  NO, SIR.  IT WAS THE PUBLICLY IDENTIFIABLE DATA.  IT WAS

         25   NOT PARTICULARLY GOOD DATA, BUT IT SERVED THE PURPOSES OF
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          1   DEFINING WHO WERE MOST LIKELY -- WITHIN NO STATISTICAL OR

          2   MARKET ULTIMATE ACCURACY, BUT WHO WERE THE MOST LIKELY TOP

          3   TWO BROWSER TECHNOLOGY SUPPLIERS.

          4   Q.  LET ME TO TRY TO SEE IF I CAN BRING THIS PART TO A

          5   CLOSE.  WAS IT THE BEST AVAILABLE PUBLIC DATA THAT YOU WERE

          6   AWARE OF?

          7   A.  YES, SIR.

          8   Q.  AND DID YOU TRY TO SEE WHETHER ANYBODY IN MICROSOFT WAS

          9   AWARE OF OTHER AVAILABLE PUBLIC DATA THAT MIGHT HAVE BEEN

         10   BETTER?

         11   A.  PROBABLY.

         12             THE COURT:  WOULD THIS BE AN APPROPRIATE TIME FOR

         13   THE NOONTIME RECESS?

         14             MR. BOIES:  IT WOULD BE, YOUR HONOR.

         15             THE COURT:  2:00.

         16             (WHEREUPON, AT 12:20 P.M., THE ABOVE-ENTITLED

         17   MATTER WAS RECESSED FOR LUNCH.)

         18                     CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

         19        THIS RECORD IS CERTIFIED BY THE UNDERSIGNED REPORTER TO

         20   BE THE OFFICIAL TRANSCRIPT OF THE PROCEEDINGS INDICATED.

         21                                 ______________________________
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